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Commissioners’ Highlights

Paul McGowan

Aoife MacEvilly (Chair)

Jim Gannon

Welcome to the CRU’s Annual Report for 2020.
This report outlines the key achievements of the CRU team in delivering on our mission to protect
the public interest in water, energy and energy safety. The Financial Statements explain how we
used our resources to deliver on our strategic priorities. This was the second year of our Strategic
Plan 2019 to 2021 and some of our milestones are highlighted below, with further information in the
body of this report.
In 2020, the CRU celebrated our coming of age as we reached the milestone of 21 years in operation.
As it turned out, 2020 was the most challenging of those 21 years as we moved overnight and
seamlessly to a remote working environment, took extraordinary measures to protect the public
interest in light of COVID challenges, and continued to deliver on an ambitious strategy in water
energy and energy safety.
The CRU team exemplified our values of openness, professionalism, integrity and accountability. The
three Commissioners are deeply grateful to the CRU team, who delivered with unfailing
commitment and good humour during a challenging time. Some key highlights of the year include:
COVID Response
The CRU prioritised security of our critical energy and water supplies:
•
•
•
•
•

Monitored the preparedness and response of EirGrid, ESB Networks, Gas Networks Ireland
and Irish Water and provided support where requested
Critical staff (and relief teams) in all utilities identified
Generators directed to confirm to the Transmission System Operator (Eirgrid) that business
continuity plans are in place
Engaged with DECC regarding national response
Updated emergency planning for electricity / gas interactions
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The CRU strengthened domestic and vulnerable customer protections with temporary measures
such as:
•
•
•
•

Moratorium on disconnections
Increased emergency credit for gas prepayment meters from €10 to €100.
Enhanced promotion of customer messages – covid measures, switching suppliers to save
money, Energy Engage Code
Implemented daily reporting from our customer call centre and engaged with our Customer
Stakeholder Group

The CRU supported business customers through:
•
•

Supply Suspension Scheme – businesses forced to close could apply to supplier to suspend
network charges
Deferral of implementation of new Water Non-Domestic Charging regime

The CRU adapted our operations:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Adapted to remote working overnight, with minimal interruption to office operations
Rapid rollout/successful adoption of MS Teams, eSignature software, ergonomic
assessments
Implemented remote inspections and audits, where possible, to support safety inspections
and compliance monitoring
Letter to all licensees on regulatory obligations during COVID – noting a pragmatic approach
to enforcement during the crisis
Agile decisions – targeted stakeholder engagement rather than public consultation
Rapid implementation of new data reporting to track trends and support decisions
Collaborated with industry and other stakeholders to deliver quickly
Enhanced communications with our remote-working team and supported wellbeing and
resilience

Deliver sustainable low carbon solutions with well-regulated Markets and networks
During 2020 we delivered the PR5 electricity price review decision, which provides a step change in
revenues for electricity network companies, with appropriate incentives, to deliver a
transformational programme of investment up to 2025 to support the climate change agenda,
within an agile investment framework. We progressed the regulatory frameworks for the Celtic and
Greenlink interconnector projects, as well as for grid connections, by publishing our Direction to
EirGrid on Offshore wind connections and the Enduring Connection Policy Stage 2 Decision.
For Irish Water, we finalised the RC3 price control with an expanded capital expenditure programme
to deliver critical water and waste-water services capacity, reliability and compliance. 2020 saw the
first flows of biomethane on the gas grid as we continue to develop policy on the future role of
gases.
We continued to support increased penetration of renewable electricity by advising the Minister on
the RESS auctions, by supporting system trials which will enable increased, leading edge penetration

5

of renewables and by consulting on the future system services arrangements with our colleagues on
the SEM Committee. We also continued the implementation of EU Network Codes.
The roll-out of Smart Meters continued (despite COVID related delays) and the CRU published our
Smart Meters Data Access paper and oversaw industry trials for smart services.
Much of this work contributed to successful delivery of the Climate Action Plan and we continue to
engage closely with policy-makers at a national and EU level to support our net-zero ambitions.
We also began closer engagement with DECC, EirGrid and other market stakeholders on Security of
Supply as we move into a critical phase of our transition to a net zero energy system.

Ensure compliance and accountability through best regulatory practice
We enhanced public safety by progressing the regulation of previously un-regulated piped LPG
distribution networks and establishing the project for the next designation of the Safety Supervisory
Bodies for Electrical Contractors and Gas Installers. We also Implemented Electrical and Gas
Recognition Processes for International Qualifications.
The CRU consulted on our approach to the new administrative sanctions regime. Following
investigations, we published Information notes on three energy company licence breaches.
Following the UK’s departure from the EU and the EU energy markets, we ensured the successful
transition to Post-Brexit Wholesale Electricity Market Arrangements with our colleagues in Northern
Ireland Authority For Utility Regulation (NIAUR) and the Single Electricity Market Committee (SEMC).

Develop effective communications to support customers and the regulatory process
In 2020 we published New Irish Water Customer Handbooks to enhance protection of domestic and
business customers. Our Customer Care Team addressed customer complaints and information
requests, as well as progressing our annual Customer Survey and engaging with our Customer
Stakeholder Group to ensure that the customer voice is at the heart of our decision-making.
We continued our #SwitchOn campaign to inform customers of their rights and protections –
particularly during the COVID restrictions. We developed and consulted on the first CRU Customer
Action plan. To mark our 21st anniversary we held a CRU@21 webinar on “Regulation in a
Pandemic”, with reflections from our fellow economic regulators on how regulation addresses the
COVID crisis across communications, aviation, broadcasting, Consumer Protection and Competition.
We also held public consultation on Active Consumers and Energy Communities to support the
implementation of the Clean Energy Package, which puts customers at the heart of the energy
transition.

Foster and maintain a high-performance culture and organisation to achieve our vision
Through 2020, we continued to build the CRU team, through recruitment, training and development
activities. We implemented the ICT strategy, augmented by enhanced remote working capability.
We also implemented Government working from home policies and guidance, while also preparing
for a safe return to our offices. The well-being and resilience of our team was a key focus for the
Commission and was the first item discussed at every Commission meeting from March onwards.
6

Our Thanks
We thank our wide range of stakeholders for their constructive input in 2020. Most particularly we
thank the CRU team who displayed extraordinary commitment in rising to the challenges of 2020
and protected the public interest in water, energy and energy safety.

7

Public Interest Statement
The CRU is Ireland’s independent regulatory body with a mission of ‘Protecting the public interest in
Water, Energy and Energy Safety’. In addition to our legislative remit, which sets out our
responsibilities, the CRU is guided by an overarching strategic plan.
The CRU Strategic Plan 2019-2021 was launched at the beginning of 2019. The plan was developed
as a guiding framework for the CRU’s planning, resourcing, prioritisation, monitoring and reporting
activities.
The Plan sets out the CRU’s commitment to deliver a secure, low carbon future at least cost. It
demonstrates our commitment to a co-operative approach with our stakeholders to ensure safe
outcomes, sustainability (including environmental and economic), reliability and efficiency across the
sectors we regulate.
In order to carry out this role effectively, the CRU revised its Mission, Vision, Values and introduced
four Strategic Priorities for the 2019-2021 period, which sit alongside the core activities we
undertake, to ensure our vision is realised and the public interest is protected.

Strategic Plan 2019-2022
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The CRU – what we do
The CRU is Ireland's independent energy and water regulator and was originally established in 1999
as the Commission for Electricity Regulation, before changing its name to the CRU in 2017 to reflect
its widened responsibilities. The Commission is financed by means of a levy on regulated entities. An
overview of the CRU’s current key functions is as follows:
•

Economic Regulation of Energy: Our aim is to protect the interests of energy customers,
maintain security of supply, and to promote competition covering the generation and supply
of electricity and supply of natural gas. We jointly regulate the all-island wholesale Single
Electricity Market (SEM) with our counterpart in Northern Ireland, the Utility Regulator
through the Single Electricity Market Committee (SEMC), the joint decision-making body
responsible for all matters relating to the all-island wholesale electricity market.

•

Economic Regulation of Water: The CRU is the economic regulator for the public water and
wastewater sector, covering the services provided by Irish Water. Our primary aim is to
protect the interests of customers of Irish Water.

•

Customer Complaints (Energy & Water): The CRU has an important function in customer
protection by resolving complaints that customers have with energy companies and with Irish
Water.

•

Energy Safety Regulation: Our core focus is to protect lives across a range of areas in the
energy sector. This includes safety regulation of electrical contractors and gas installers
(covering both natural gas and Liquefied Petroleum Gas (LPG). We are the safety regulator of
the downstream natural gas industry (covering storage, transportation and supply) and LPG
piped distribution systems. We are also safety regulator of upstream petroleum extraction
and exploration activities; this includes oil and gas activity both onshore and offshore.

CRU 2020 Work Plan
At the start of each year, the CRU publishes its work programme on the CRU’s website. In 2020, this
work plan identified the key strategic tasks for commencement, progression or delivery during 2020,
all of which would allow the CRU to fulfil its mission statement. The tasks for each of the CRU
Divisions are summarised in the main section of this Report
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CRU Organisation
The CRU is led by up to three Commissioners at any one time. In 2020 the Commissioners were Paul
McGowan (Chairperson), Aoife MacEvilly and Jim Gannon. The Commissioners are assisted in their
duties by a staff of about 100, including 5 directors.
In February, Paul McGowan stood down as Chairperson and was Aoife MacEvilly was appointed
Chairperson.
The chart below summarises the organisational structure of the CRU (as of 31 December 2020).
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Energy Efficiency 2020
The CRU’s Energy Efficiency Team was first established in 2010 with the primary focus of the
promoting energy awareness within the workplace and to drive reductions in energy consumption
year on year.
In 2019 the team changed its name to The Green Machine to reflect the group’s wider remit which
now also focuses on reducing the CRU’s environmental burden in relation to water consumption,
waste management, procurement of goods and services, and transport and travel while aiming to
promote environmental awareness amongst staff. While adapting to a new way of working
remotely, we continued to submit the statistics to fulfil our M&R reporting obligations.
The Green Machine aspires to progress the organisation on the path of the 2030 target as defined by
DECC and SEAI by building on past performance and continuously improving, through its Energy
Action Plan.
While working remotely, the Green Machine continued to promote energy and sustainability
awareness in line with the Energy Action Plan. We purchased more energy efficient devices such as
laptops and screens for staff working from home. As an essential service, our offices remained open,
with very limited attendance through lockdown and we took the opportunity to replace LED lighting
and reduce heating/air-conditioning use. Furthermore, the quick call for remote working in March
2020 was a key driver to introducing the paperless office.
The Green Machine’s focus for much of this year involved promoting environmental awareness
amongst staff. The team ran a number of competitions and awareness campaigns to achieve this.
Some of these initiatives included an art competition for the children of staff to celebrate World
Earth Day and a fancy dress competition amongst staff for World Turtle Day. For European Mobility
Week, staff were informed of the importance of zero-emission transport in a sustainable low carbon
future, and the steps that they can take to reduce the carbon footprint in this area.
To mark World Sustainable Gastronomy Day, the Green Machine ran a competition which asked CRU
staff to contribute details of their own sustainable food consumption habits. The Green Machine
also shared with staff a wide range of helpful resources in relation to growing herbs and vegetables
at home. Information was also provided to help staff to reduce the environmental impact of their
food consumption habits. Along with further ancillary events which involved good engagement from
the CRU staff.

Chairperson’s Statement:
While 2020 was a very different year to the one we expected when we developed our Energy Action
Plan, the Green Machine adapted and continued to implement as many actions as possible, while
promoting sustainability awareness and energy efficiency in the remote working environment.
Knowing that many of our staff were juggling family and caring commitments they offered familyoriented activities. The CRU Team appreciates the work and commitment of the Green Machine
throughout 2020.
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Energy Safety
Key Achievement 1:
Full Title of Achievement

Progressed regulation of piped LPG distribution networks that
are not operated by a licensed LPG undertaking

Link to Corporate Strategy

Strategic Priority Ensure compliance and accountability
through best regulatory practice
Service Activity / Key Objective: Strengthen the CRU’s
compliance and enforcement framework across safety, water
and energy to ensure best regulatory practice in all areas of the
organisation’s remit.

Summary

It is important that all operators of piped LPG distribution networks are regulated with respect
to safety so that the general public, and in particular end customers, are protected from the
safety risks associated with piped LPG distribution networks.
At present, the legislation provides for operators who import LPG or purchase it directly from a
refinery within the State and supply to it to individual domestic and commercial customers via
a piped LPG distribution network, to hold an LPG Safety Licence. The legislation does not,
however, cover operators of LPG distribution networks who purchase LPG from other
sources. In 2016, the CRU became aware of approximately 70 such LPG distribution
networks.
There were significant safety concerns for a number of these sites and immediate intervention
was required on 16% of the sites to make them safe. In other cases, Gas Safety Officer
(GSO) instructions were issued to the network operators requiring actions within specified
timeframes in order to bring the networks into conformity with the relevant safety standards.
An enduring solution is required for the protection of the general public particularly end
customers, from the risks associated with the operation of a piped LPG distribution network.
Following consultation in 2019, the CRU published a decision paper “Regulation of piped LPG
distribution networks that are not operated by a licensed LPG undertaking” (CRU20030) in
February 2020. The purpose of this paper was to set out how those LPG distribution networks
that are operated by a party other than a licensed LPG undertaking might be regulated from a
safety perspective.
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Key Achievement 2:
Full Title of Achievement

Adapted audit and inspection plan due to governmental
restrictions to ensure effective compliance monitoring.

Link to Corporate Strategy

Strategic Priority Ensure compliance and accountability
through best regulatory practice
Service Activity / Key Objective: Strengthen the CRU’s
compliance and enforcement framework across safety, water
and energy to ensure best regulatory practice in all areas of the
organisation’s remit.

Summary

As part of its annual work programme, the Gas Safety Framework Team agrees an audit and
inspection programme for natural gas and LPG undertakings. The review topics are decided
by taking into account previous audit and inspection findings, performance reports, incident
reports and accepted safety cases.
Governmental restrictions imposed due to the Covid 19 pandemic limited the CRU’s ability to
carry out inspections on site. The Gas Safety Framework Team revised the audit and inspection
programme during 2020 reprioritising review topics and identifying alternative topics suitable
for ‘remote’ or ‘online’ audit.
Audits were carried out through a mixture of video communication platforms to facilitate
regulated entities. Audit scope was adjusted and optimised and the audit was carefully planned
to ensure the process was effective and efficient for the CRU and regulated entities. Learnings
gained from conducting remote audits in 2020 will be acted on when planning the 2021 audit
and inspection programme.
The Gas Safety Framework team connected with its network of UK and European regulators
through the UK Onshore Pipeline Operator’s Association (UKOPA) and European Pipeline
Authorities groups to share challenges posed by the pandemic and learnings in terms of
emerging best practice.
The Gas Safety Framework Team also increased engagement with regulated entities
throughout the pandemic to ensure early engagement and facilitate discussions on any
difficulties encountered by the regulated entities in complying with their safety cases.

14

Successful completion of the audit and inspection programme for 2020 is one of the key
elements that contributes towards the CRU’s goal for ensuring that energy and gas are supplied
safely.

Key Achievement 3:
Full Title of Achievement

Established SSB Designation 2023 Project Team

Link to Corporate Strategy

Strategic Priority Ensure compliance and accountability
through best regulatory practice.
Service Activity / Key Objective: Strengthen the CRU’s
compliance and enforcement framework across safety, water
and energy to ensure best regulatory practice in all areas of the
organisation’s remit.

Summary

The CRU discharges its safety regulation of gas installers and electrical contractors through the
Gas Safety Supervisory Body (GSSB) and Electrical Safety Supervisory Body (ESSB)
respectively. The GSSB and ESSB’s duties and responsibilities are set out in the Electricity
Regulation Act 1999, as amended, and in the Safety Supervisory Criteria Documents. These
include the registration and inspection of Registered Gas Installers and Registered Electrical
Contractors, managing the gas and electrical works certification process and investigation of
complaints.
In 2015, following competitive public procurement processes, the Register of Gas Installers of
Ireland Ltd. (RGII) was appointed to the role of GSSB and the Registered Electrical Contractors
Ireland (RECI) was appointed to the role of ESSB for the period 2016 – 2022.
The CRU has established a team to undertake the Safety Supervisory Bodies designation
project 2023 (“the Project”). The purpose of the Project is:
-

to designate Electrical and Gas SSBs that will operate the schemes from 2023; as well
as
to review the existing schemes in order to identify and make improvements, where
possible.

This Project is a key element of the CRU’s Work Plan and Priorities for 2021.
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Key Achievement 4:
Full Title of Achievement

Implemented Electrical and Gas Recognition Processes for
International Qualifications

Link to Corporate Strategy

Strategic Priority Ensure compliance and accountability
through best regulatory practice.
Service Activity / Key Objective: Strengthen the CRU’s
compliance and enforcement framework across safety, water
and energy to ensure best regulatory practice in all areas of the
organisation’s remit.

Summary
The European Recognition of Professional Qualifications Directive obliges the CRU to put in
place a system of recognition for electrical contractors / gas installers with Non-Irish
qualifications applying for registration to the Safe Electric and Register of Gas Installers
schemes. The process confirms whether the applicants’ qualifications and experience are
comparable to the Irish minimum requirements or identify how to upskill to be eligible to register.
This process involves Panels of Experts, who have the technical expertise and knowledge of
the qualifications, assessing the applications to ascertain the applicants’ competency to register
to the schemes. The CRU has established two Panels one each for the RGI and Safe Electric
schemes. They are made up of five appointed members and chaired by the CRU. To date both
the Gas and the Electrical Panels have processed over thirty applications each.

Key Achievement 5:
Full Title of Achievement

Completed the Petroleum Safety audit and inspection
programme for 2020, amidst challenging working environment
due to the coronavirus pandemic

Link to Corporate Strategy

Strategic Priority: Ensure Compliance and Accountability
Through Best Regulatory Practice
Service Activity / Key Objective: Strengthen the CRU's
compliance and enforcement framework across safety, water
and energy to ensure best regulatory practice in all areas of the
organisation's remit
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Summary

The CRUs Petroleum Safety team has completed the audit and inspection programme for
2020. An innovative and flexible approach was required to adapt to the challenging conditions
caused by the global health crisis. This directly affected the planned inspections, especially
with regards to;
-

the scheduling: several of the originally intended dates for inspection had to be
postponed due to Operators impacted timelines;
the intended mechanism for carrying out the inspections: previously, all inspections
had been carried out with CRU physical presence onsite, and;
the intended personnel to carry out the inspections: the increased impact of cross
border travel and quarantine / testing requirements.

At the initial stage of each inspection a risk assessment was carried out to confirm if the
inspection should go ahead, assessing the potential risk to all stakeholders and if appropriate
measures were in place to proceed. Following the successful outcome of each risk
assessment, approval was required and provided by the Director of Energy Safety. All
inspections were carried out in compliance with government guidelines and restrictions. For
2020, these inspections included three on-site inspections of Operators within the State, two
inspections within the United Kingdom and one remote/virtual inspection. The resources
available to the team were used optimally for conducting these inspections, particularly the
use of consultants based within the same country to assist with the onsite inspections in the
UK to minimise the requirement for cross border travel.
During 2020, the PSF team successfully carried out a virtual or remote inspection. The
inspection and associated topics and questions were planned such that it was conducive to
remote inspection. Several key learnings were gained, which were useful in conducting UK
inspections later in the year. Significant documentation was requested and provided pre
inspection, with numerous interviews conducted.
The audit and inspection programme is a key part of the framework that allows the CRU to
monitor and enforce compliance by Petroleum Undertakings, Operators and Owners with their
obligations. This contributes towards fulfilling the CRUs principal objective to “Protect the
public by fostering and encouraging safety as respects the carrying on of designated
petroleum activities” (Part IIA of the Petroleum (Exploration and Extraction) Safety Act 2015).
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Key Achievement 6:
Full Title of Achievement

Increased regulatory interactions and oversight by the
Petroleum Safety team during the global health crisis

Link to Corporate Strategy

Strategic Priority: Ensure Compliance and Accountability
Through Best Regulatory Practice
Service Activity / Key Objective: Strengthen the CRU's
compliance and enforcement framework across safety, water
and energy to ensure best regulatory practice in all areas of the
organisation's remit

Summary

The CRU increased regulatory interactions and oversight with Operators during 2020 in
response to the coronavirus pandemic and impacts due to the associated restrictions. At
the onset, weekly calls were held with Operators in addition to more frequent ad hoc calls
to deal with challenges as they arose. Later on, when some restrictions were eased and
the initial issues had been resolved, the frequency of the update calls were adjusted
accordingly, generally to bi-weekly. Bi-monthly meetings were also held with VEPIL to
monitor the ongoing improvement plan against an enforcement action regarding the safety
management system implementation issued during 2019. The CRU also conducted a
survey of infectious diseases amongst the Operators. The intent was for the survey to act
as a useful prompt to identify measures that should or could be implemented. Also, during
the initial stages, inspections were paused by the CRU until the necessary risk
assessment and mitigations were put in place.
Engagement with national (Offshore Regulator’s Liaison Meeting) and international
groups/forums (EUOAG, IRF, NSOAF) were increased to share developing best practices
and latest updates on regulators experience to adapting operations during the global
pandemic. For example, at one of the forums a member country shared a document
whereby a helicopter operator had developed a protocol that includes transporting offshore
workers who may have contracted the virus to onshore medical facilities. It was possible to
share this with the Operators in Ireland and benefit from the protocol, with the proviso that
if anyone improved on it, to provide feedback. It was also valuable to learn how other
regulators within the EU and Internationally had modified their operations. The majority
had facilitated for their staff to work remotely, at least during some periods. Depending on
their specific circumstances, many had suspended inspections at times of particularly high
prevalence of COVID-19. Cooperation with other international regulators facilitated the
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sharing of risk assessments and inspection protocols in order to mitigate pandemic risks
and allowed for the recommencement of onsite inspections.
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Energy Networks and Legal
Key Achievement 1:
Full Title of Achievement

Enduring Connection Policy – Stage 2 (ECP-2) Decision

Link to Corporate Strategy

Strategic Priority: Ensure utility network policies and
infrastructure development deliver a low carbon future whilst
supporting competitiveness and security of supply
Service Activity / Key Objective: An enduring electricity
connection policy that supports climate targets.

Summary

In June 2020, CRU published a decision on Enduring Connection Policy – Stage 2 (ECP2),
which continued the principal objective of ECP in allowing projects which are ‘shovel ready’ to
have an opportunity to connect to the network.
ECP-2 also prioritises, in the first instance, large renewable energy projects in line with the
CRU strategy of delivering sustainable low-carbon solutions with well-regulated networks.
ECP-2 also facilitates Government defined community-led renewable energy projects by
allocating fifteen connection offers per year to such projects. Community-led renewable energy
projects will also not need planning permission to apply for grid connection and will receive a
connection assessment (connection method and cost) as part of the application process.
Planning permission will, however, be required before a grid connection offer is issued.
When ECP-1 was published in 2018, the CRU committed to more regular opportunities for
connection offer processing (batches) in future. ECP-2 delivers three batches in three years
with up to 115 offers to be processed in each batch (85 general batch, 30 non-batch small
projects/community projects). Annual application windows open in September each year with
all offers to be sent out by December of the following year.
The ECP-2.1 application window (the first ECP-2 batch) opened in September 2020 and by
the end of 2020 the batch formed was due to process the following offers in 2021:
•

85 general batch offers (category A) – 56 solar (1094MW), 20 wind (672MW), 2 CHP
(620MW), 2 battery (100MW), 2 CCGT/gas (96MW), 3 wind/battery/solar hybrid (238
MW)

•

6 non-batch offers (category B) – 3 wind (1.3MW), 2 solar (0.7MW), 1 CHP (0.4MW)

•

24 community projects (category C) – 13 solar (53 MW), 11 wind (46MW).
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ECP-2.2 application window is due to open in September 2021.

Key Achievement 2:
Full Title of Achievement

Offshore Grid Connection Policy

Link to Corporate Strategy

Strategic Priority: Ensure utility network policies and
infrastructure development deliver a low carbon future whilst
supporting competitiveness and security of supply
Service Activity / Key Objective: Commence development of
Offshore Wind connection policy and regulatory framework.

Summary

The Government’s Climate Action Plan was published in June 2019 and it identified a key role
for offshore wind in decarbonisation, setting a target of at least 3.5 GW of offshore wind to be
connected by 2030. The 2020 Programme for Government targeted at least 5 GW of offshore
wind by 2030.
The Climate Action Plan set out a dedicated pathway for the development of offshore wind,
which includes delivery of the offshore grid. The actions on the CRU are related to offshore
grid connection policy and the regulatory framework for the treatment of offshore grid.
In 2019 and 2020 the CRU worked closely with the Department of Housing, Local
Government and Heritage (DHLGH), the Department of Environment, Climate and
Communications (DECC) and EirGrid along with industry stakeholders on the progression of
offshore grid for legacy projects.
In December 2019, the DHLGH set out a protocol to allow these projects to transition from the
outgoing consenting regime, to the incoming one. The CRU liaised closely with the DHLGH in
relation to the treatment of these projects and prepared a direction to EirGrid requiring them to
progress grid connection applications from them. This direction was published in early 2020
and EirGrid has prepared an assessment of the impact of these projects, set to be fully
reviewed in 2021.
In addition to the grid connection policy, the CRU is required to put in place a regulatory
framework for offshore wind. Preparation on this work commenced in 2020. However, before
this work can be further developed with stakeholders, a decision is required from the DECC
regarding the way in which the offshore grid is to be built out i.e., whether it will be built by
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generators (decentralised), or by EirGrid (centralised), and what role the Government will play
in choosing appropriate sites for example. The pending decision from the DECC has been
informed by a working group on offshore grid models, which includes the CRU.

Key Achievement 3:
Full Title of Achievement

Electricity Interconnectors

Link to Corporate Strategy

Strategic Priority: Deliver market policies that support a low
carbon future whilst supporting competitiveness and security of
supply.
Service Activity / Key Objective: New electricity
interconnectors to support the integration of renewable power
into the Irish energy system and provide an additional layer of
security of supply.

Summary

Greenlink
In December 2017, Greenlink’s project promoters submitted an interconnector application
under Section 2A of the Electricity Regulation Act 1999 (the Act) to the CRU. Greenlink’s
project promoters requested the CRU to determine whether it is in public interest to
consider Greenlink as part of the Irish transmission system and approve a charging
methodology for the project which is based on a 25-year Cap and Floor regime1.
Between June and August 2018, the CRU consulted on the Greenlink investment request
and conducted its own cost-benefit analysis (CBA) of the project to stress test the CBA
results provided by Greenlink’s project promoters. In October 2018, the CRU determined
that it is in public interest to consider Greenlink as part of the Irish transmission system.
In March 2020, the CRU consulted its “minded to” position on the Cap and Floor
regulatory treatment and its initial views of the regime features requested by Greenlink. In
December 2020, following this consultation, the CRU published a decision paper2 which

Greenlink requested from the CRU a Cap and Floor regime in respect of 50% of Greenlink’s revenues. Greenlink is seeking a
regime that is symmetrical with Ofgem’s 25-year Cap and Floor regime that would apply to Greenlink in GB, i.e. the Greenlink
Interconnector would be, in principle, half underwritten by GB consumers and the other half underwritten by Irish consumers.
2
https://www.cru.ie/document_group/greenlink-electricity-interconnector/
1
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set out the CRU’s decision that a Cap and Floor regulatory framework would be the most
appropriate regulatory framework for the Greenlink interconnector.
The CRU expects to consult on the CRU’s minded to positions on the regulatory financial
framework of the Cap and Floor that would apply to Greenlink in Q1 2021. Following this
consultation, the CRU expects to publish its Final Determination in H2 2021.
Celtic
The Celtic Interconnector is a proposed electrical interconnector linking Ireland and France,
with a capacity of 700MW. The project promoters are the Irish and French Transmission
System Operators, EirGrid and RTE respectively. In April 2019 the CRU reached a joint
decision with the French Energy Regulatory Commission (CRE) on the allocation of the
investment cost of the project between the two countries. The decision was to allocate 65% of
the total estimated investment cost of €930 million to Ireland, and 35% to France, with any
cost overrun to be shared equally. This split reflects the relative expected benefits of the
Celtic Interconnector to the two countries. The decision was taken contingent on financial
assistance of at least 60% of the project’s estimated costs being provided by the European
Commission through a Connecting Europe Facility (CEF) grant. In October 2019, a CEF grant
of €530.7 million for the Celtic project was announced. Although this amount is, at 57% of the
total estimated project cost, slightly lower than the minimum of 60% that had been agreed
upon in the initial cost allocation decision, the CRU and RTE decided that the amount was
large enough to proceed as had been originally agreed. Should the cost of the project exceed
that estimated by 20% or more, the CRU and the CRE agreed to review the cost allocation
decision and reconsider investment in the project and/or the decision to share cost overruns
equally.
During 2020 the CRU and EirGrid continued engagement on the project with particular
reference the regulatory framework that would underpin the investment on the Irish side.
EirGrid made a formal submission on the Celtic Interconnector Regulatory Framework during
the first half of the year. CRU continues to review the submission and expect to hold a public
consultation on the matter in H1 2021.
The Interconnector is expected to begin commercial operation in 2026 subject to final
approval.
CRU engagement in the PCI consenting process
Throughout 2020, the CRU engaged with An Bord Pleanala (ABP) in its role as Competent
Authority under EU Regulation 347/2013. This Regulation covers the consenting of Projects of
Common Interest (PCIs), which includes the Greenlink and Celtic Interconnector projects.
Under the Regulation, PCI projects can benefit from a streamlined and accelerated permit
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granting process. The work of the CRU in 2020 included engaging with Greenlink and
assessing their submissions to the PCI Unit at ABP to support their future applications to CRU
for their consents, including an Authorisation to Construct an Interconnector. In line with this
work, in August 2020 the CRU published updated guidance notes and an application form for
gaining an Authorisation to Construct an Interconnector on our website.

Key Achievement 4:
Full Title of Achievement

Emergency Planning and Preparedness

Link to Corporate Strategy

Strategic Priority: Ensure utility network policies and
infrastructure development deliver a low carbon future whilst
supporting competitiveness and security of supply
Service Activity / Key Objective: Implement the Electricity
Risk Preparedness Regulation; continuation of review of
emergency plans to ensure efficient management of these
events.

Summary
Risk Preparedness Plan
Work continued throughout 2020 on the implementation of Regulation (EU) 2019/941 on risk
preparedness in the electricity sector. The regulation requires Member States to have plans in
place to prevent, prepare for and manage crises that may cause a loss of electricity supply to
customers, such as extreme weather events or equipment failures. CRU worked alongside
EirGrid to develop a set of national electricity crisis scenarios for Ireland consistent with the
regional crisis scenarios created as part of an EU-wide process, and to estimate the risk
associated with each scenario.
The national scenarios were published for public consultation in November 2020. Responses to
the consultation are being incorporated into the draft national Risk Preparedness Plan which will
set out the actions to be taken during electricity crises, in order to mitigate and minimise the
disruption caused to customers. The plan itself will be consulted upon in 2021.
Emergency Preparedness
The CRU is a member of the Gas Emergency Response Team (GERT) and the Joint Energy
Emergency Response Team (JEERT), which cover gas and electricity emergency responses
respectively, In September, CRU participated in an EirGrid led JEERT emergency exercise. In
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October, CRU participated in a GNI led GERT emergency exercise. In a change to previous
years, the impact of Covid – 19 resulted in both emergency exercises being successfully
reconfigured to take place online, with the learnings from each day being developed into actions
to improve the existing procedures. CRU has worked with the relevant bodies since the
exercises to ensure all actions have been addressed.
The impact of Covid – 19 on travel, manufacturing and the supply chain resulted in significant
changes to the planned maintenance schedules of the gas and electricity system operators.
CRU worked closely with the system operators to support their efforts in maintaining gas and
electricity security of supply throughout 2020 and we would like to acknowledge their
exceptional work and the positive outcomes delivered in 2020, under the difficult and
demanding circumstances.
During 2020, the CRU also commenced a review of the emergency planning arrangements
focused on maintaining security of supply of gas and electricity during emergencies. The
outputs of this review are feeding into updates to the existing emergency plans, including the
planned 2021 update to the GNI Natural Gas Emergency Plan.
In 2009, the CRU placed obligations on certain electricity generators to be able to operate on an
alternative fuel source in the event of an emergency. In practice this means that, for example,
an electricity generating station running on gas should also be able to run on a different fuel
should its supply of gas be temporarily cut off. EirGrid are tasked with testing the generators’
compliance with the alternative fueling obligation, and monitoring by CRU of those test results
has identified that the availability of the relevant generators to run on an alternative fuel has
declined in recent years. These results have the potential to impact Ireland’s ability to maintain
security of electricity supply in the event of a national gas emergency. Throughout 2020, the
CRU worked with EirGrid to assess and address the reasons for the decline in availability to
improve the results. Efforts were hampered by the impact of Covid – 19, which resulted in a
temporary halt to the EirGrid testing program, but improvements were made, Efforts to further
improve the availability of these generators to run on an alternative fuel source will continue in
2021.

Key Achievement 5:
Full Title of Achievement

Electricity Generation Consenting

Link to Corporate Strategy

Strategic Priority: Build resilience in our processes and
priorities to account for changes in the external environment
including Brexit and the implementation of the Clean Energy
Package
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Service Activity / Key Objective: Generator applications and
authorisations future planning including accommodation of
Renewable Energy Support Scheme (RESS) update

Summary
Authorisations to Construct a Generating Station and Licences to Generate
The CRU is responsible for the assessment and granting of authorisations to construct or
reconstruct power generation facilities and licences to generate from these facilities. The table
below sets out the Authorisations and Licences issued by the CRU in 2020 by generation unit
type.
Table: 2020 Authorisations and Licences issued by generation unit type
Station Type

Authorisations issued

Licences issued

Wind

5

5

CHP

0

0

Solar

11

11

Battery

5

5

Other

0

0

Details of all Authorisations and Licences issued are posted to the Licensing section of the CRU
website each quarter.
Preparing for RESS
In early 2020, the licensing teams of the CRU assessed and prepared for the impact of the
Government’s upcoming Renewable Energy Support Scheme (RESS). The results of this work
included updated application forms for CRU Authorisations to Construct and Licences to
Generate being published to the CRU website in August.
As part of this work in preparing for RESS, CRU held industry seminars in November for
existing and prospective new applicants. CRU was aware that the RESS had the potential to
bring many new entities into the generation sphere, in particular new solar applicants, and so
the sessions were developed, not only to raise industry awareness of the updated licensing
process, but also to support these new applicants and enhance their potential for submitting
‘right first time’ applications.
The first complete RESS project applications under the updated CRU process were received in
November 2020 following the issuance of RESS Letters of Offer.

26

Key Achievement 6:
Full Title of Achievement

Gas Tariffs – 2020/21

Link to Corporate Strategy

Strategic Priority: Deliver sustainable, low-carbon solutions

with well-regulated markets and networks.
Service Activity / Key Objective: Deliver consultation and
decision on EU Tariffs for New Connections and follow through
on implementation

Summary
Each year, the gas network tariffs are reviewed to ensure that Gas Networks Ireland (GNI) only
recovers the necessary costs for efficient operation of the network. In 2020, the CRU published
tariffs for use of the gas transmission and distribution network during gas year 2020/21 (01
October 2020 to 30 September 2021). Following a thorough review of GNI’s submission, the
CRU approved an increase in transmission tariffs by 8% and distribution tariffs by 5%. The CRU
estimated that the combined change in transmission and distribution tariffs equated to a 1.3%
(or €11) increase on an average residential gas customer’s annual gas bill. In coming to that
decision, the CRU considered how Covid-19 may impact network costs in the future. The CRU
decided that the network tariffs should be increased by a small amount to avoid a build-up in
costs for future years. In addition, when coming to this decision the CRU noted that it appeared,
on an overall basis, that customer bills should not be higher for customers in gas year 2020/21
than they were in 2019/20, due to cost reductions in other areas that effect a customer’s final
bill.

Key Achievement 7:
Full Title of Achievement

Future Role of Gas

Link to Corporate Strategy

Strategic Priority: Deliver sustainable, low-carbon solutions

with well-regulated markets and networks.
Service Activity / Key Objective: ensuring effective
understanding and consideration of the future role of gas

Summary
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In 2020 the first commercial flows of biomethane were seen on the gas network. This was
accommodated by changes to the market rules, as set out in the Code of Operations, as well as
updates to Gas Network Ireland’s safety case. These developments are a positive step towards
the decarbonisation of the gas network and the CRU will continue to develop the regulatory
framework to ensure that our strategic priority of delivering sustainable, low carbon solutions,
with well regulated markets and networks, is achieved. As part of these ongoings efforts, to
delivering sustainable, low carbon solutions, the CRU has actively engaged with The European
Union Agency for the Cooperation of Energy Regulators (ACER) and The Council of European
Energy Regulators (CEER) on the future role of gas and how the natural gas network could aid
in decarbonising our economy. In 2020, the CRU provided input into the development of joint
white papers from ACER and CEER on the European Commission’s hydrogen and system
integration strategies. Those strategies consider, amongst other things, how the natural gas
networks can assist in achieving the European Union’s Green deal, and its aim to decarbonise
the European economy by 2050. The white papers focus on the regulation of hydrogen and
power to gas facilities. They are entitled “Regulatory Treatment of Power-to-Gas: second Paper
in the ACER/CEER European Green Deal Regulatory White Paper series” and “When and How
to Regulate Hydrogen Networks?”. They can be found on the ACER and CEER websites. The
white papers include recommendations such as:

•

a gradual approach to the regulation of hydrogen networks in line with market and
infrastructure development for hydrogen,

•

a dynamic regulatory approach based on periodic market analysis and monitoring,
and;

•

ensuring traceability of renewable energy throughout the integrated energy system

Key Achievement 8:
Full Title of Achievement

Price Review Five

Link to Corporate Strategy

Strategic Priority: Deliver sustainable, low-carbon solutions

with well-regulated markets and networks.
Service Activity / Key Objective: Ensure utility network
policies and infrastructure development deliver a low carbon
future whilst supporting competitiveness and security of supply.

Summary
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Price Review five (PR5) put forward the CRU’s decision on the network companies’
revenues for the 2021 to 2025 (PR5) period and examined the cost and performance over
the previous five years (2016 to 2020).

It comes at an important time for the evolution of the electricity networks and will play an
important role in enabling the transition to a low carbon system by 2030 and ensuring
security of supply. The Climate Action Plan 2019 and the approved programme for
government 2020 set the energy sector in Ireland a collective challenge to decarbonise
electricity while delivering Security of Supply, facilitating consumer and community
engagement, against a backdrop of significant electrification of heat and transport and
rapidly increasing demand. EirGrid and ESB Networks have a crucial role to play in the
successful delivery of this vision for Ireland’s future.

The PR5 allocations demonstrate that the CRU is committed to facilitating this transition
in a manner which supports Security of Supply, an economically efficient delivery, and the
protection of the consumer interest. PR5 will see a step change in revenue when
compared to PR4 (2016 – 2020) outturn expenditure. The following key points are noted:

o

A 52% Increase in Transmission Operational Expenditure.
o

o

A ~35% Increase in Gross Transmission Capital Expenditure.
o

o

A total of circa €1.2bn is allowed by the CRU.

A ~20% increase in Distribution Operational Expenditure.
o

o

A total of €1.6bn is allowed by the CRU.

A total of €1.7bn is allowed by the CRU.

An ~84% increase in Gross Distribution Capital Expenditure (an increase of
€1bn).
o

A total of €2.8bn is allowed by the CRU.

The CRU also introduced a new Agile Investment Framework (AIF) and an enhanced
incentive and reporting framework. The AIF will accommodate uncertainty and the
changing needs/demands of the electricity networks and market while the new incentives
will focus on visibility, flexibility, facilitating renewable energy, the role of the DSO,
security of supply and reducing costs for consumers. The CRU is seeking to ensure that
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the necessary funding is made available to achieve the targets set out in the Climate
Action Plan and Clean Energy Package. This must be done in a way that ensures
consumer interests are protected.

Key Achievement 9:
Full Title of Achievement

DS3 & System Services

Link to Corporate Strategy

Strategic Priority: Deliver sustainable, low carbon solutions
with well-regulated markets and networks.
Service Activity / Key Objective: RoCoF Trial Phase 1
completed
100MW of additional wind on the system at one time due to
Negative Reserve
System Services Future Arrangements project launched

Summary

In 2020 a number of significant steps were taken to deliver on the aims of the DS3
Programme. A trial to bring about changes to the rate of change of frequency (RoCoF)
commenced in April 2020. Phase 1 of the trial was completed in October 2020. Following
on from this the TSOs commenced a negative reserve trial.
The provision of negative reserve from wind generation allows an increase in the amount
of wind generation on the system by bringing the output of conventional generators closer
to their minimum generation limit. The negative reserve trial effectively enabled up to 100
MW of additional wind generation onto the system at times when it would otherwise have
been curtailed. This Trial ran through Q4 2020 and is now completed.
The completion of these trials has put the TSOs in a position to carry out the 70% and
75% SNSP trials, with the aim to move the SNSP limit to 75% on an enduring basis in
2021. With the enduring move to 75% SNSP, which enables 75% of energy to safely
come from non-synchronous source of electricity such as wind or solar at any one time,
the DS3 Programme will in effect be completed. Work in 2021 will be focussed on
measures to move beyond this, looking towards the 2030 renewable energy targets.
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Additionally, the CRU, along with our counterparts in Northern Ireland, the UR, has
commenced work on developing a framework for System Services to apply beyond the
existing contractual arrangements which were scheduled to end on 30 April 20233. A
Scoping Paper was published on 8 July 2020 (SEM-20-044) which sought the views of
stakeholders on how best to develop future arrangements for System Services beyond
April 2023.
The objective of the project, as per the Scoping Paper, is to deliver a competitive
framework for the procurement of System Services, that ensures secure operation of the
electricity system with higher levels of non-synchronous generation. The next phase of
public engagement on this project is scheduled for 2021.
Finally, two procurement gates for System Services were completed in 2020. Gate 2 was
completed in April 2020 and the outcomes were published by the TSOs, while Gate 3 was
completed in October 2020 and the outcomes were published by the TSOs

Legal
In 2020 the legal team provided advice to the CRU, as required, at all levels from
Commissioners to Analysts. In addition, the legal team managed the Freedom of Information
(FOI) and Access to Information on the Environment (AIE) function for the CRU and ensured
that sufficient training was provided to CRU staff members who deal with FOI and AIE matters.

3

At the end of 2020, the Regulated Arrangements were scheduled to end on 30 April 2023, however a
subsequent SEM Committee decision (SEM-21-021) has revised this date to 30 April 2024.
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Water, Compliance and Customer Affairs Division
Key Achievement 1:
Full Title of Achievement

Monitoring & Reporting on Irish Water’s Performance

Link to Corporate Strategy

Strategic Priority: Deliver sustainable, low-carbon solutions
with well-regulated markets and networks.
Service Activity / Key Objective: Provide effective regulation
of Irish Water to deliver secure, efficient, and sustainable
outcomes in the public interest.

Summary

In 2020, the CRU continued to monitor and report on Irish Water’s performance given the
CRU’s legal functions and duties as the economic regulator of Irish Water. The CRU’s
monitoring and reporting activities during 2020 are elaborated on below.
Irish Water Investment Plan 2017- 2021: In July 2020, the CRU published its third
monitoring report regarding Irish Water’s Investment Plan 2017-2021. Irish Water’s
Investment Plans set out the capital projects and programmes that it plans to progress and
deliver during the period of the plan for the monies approved by the CRU. This monitoring
report focused on Irish Water’s delivery of outputs and outcomes in the period up to the end of
2019 and closes out Irish Water’s second revenue control period (‘IRC2’). The information
provided to the CRU here, and the CRU’s analysis of this information, supported the CRU’s
review and decision in August 2020 regarding the efficiency of Irish Water’s expenditure on
capital investments for the second revenue control period.
Performance Assessment Framework: The CRU first established a Performance
Assessment Framework for Irish Water in 2016. The Performance Assessment Framework
(‘the Framework’) provides a basis for the CRU to assess Irish Water’s performance in
delivering public water and wastewater services for its customers given the monies, plans,
and customer service standards approved by the CRU. The Framework includes a number of
metrics across five categories: customer service, environmental performance, water supply –
quality of service, security of water supply and wastewater (sewerage) service.
The Framework is not yet fully established as Irish Water is not yet reporting on all metrics,
and targets have not been put in place to allow for assessment of Irish Water’s performance.
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However, the CRU continues to monitor and report on Irish Water’s performance under the
metrics for which data is available and to report on Irish Water’s collection of data under the
remaining metrics.
Irish Water submitted its fifth submission under the Performance Assessment Framework to
the CRU in November 2020. In this submission, Irish Water reported in full on 12 of the 19
metrics outlined under the current Framework. Irish Water is continuing to gather data on the
remaining 7 metrics. The CRU reviewed the submission provided by Irish Water and in
December 2020 published its annual implementation update paper under the Framework.
Performance Assessment Framework Review
In 2020, the CRU carried out a review of the Framework. The aim of this review was to ensure
that the metrics outlined in the 2016 decision, remained fit for purpose and consistent with the
CRU’s decision of August 2020, regarding Irish Water’s allowed revenue for the period 2020
to 2024 (the third revenue control termed ‘RC3’). The review also included work to set out
targets for the Framework metrics for the RC3 period which allows for CRU assessment of
Irish Water’s performance under the Framework to commence.
In October 2020, the CRU published a consultation paper on its review of the Framework. The
CRU considered that metrics should be retained where possible, both for consistency of
reporting, and to illustrate Irish Water’s performance over time. Where it was found that a
metric no longer presents meaningful information – for example due to technological
advances or a change in priorities on behalf of Irish Water or the CRU – the CRU proposed
that metrics should be altered or discontinued as appropriate. New metrics were proposed
where it was found that an area of performance has either not been included in the 2016
decision or was found to be more meaningful than the original version of the metric.
The consultation paper also included proposed targets for Irish Water’s expected delivery for
the RC3 period (2020 to 2024) further to the CRU’s RC3 decision in August 2020. The CRU’s
proposed targets were informed by the CRU’s RC3 decision, CRU requirements on Irish
Water regarding customer service as laid out in the Domestic and Non-Domestic Customer
Handbooks, targets and performance by the other utilities monitored by the CRU, and targets
and performance of other water companies in neighbouring jurisdictions (Northern Ireland,
Scotland, England and Wales).
The CRU’s consultation regarding the review closed in November 2020. The CRU will publish
a decision on the review of the Performance Assessment Framework in 2021.
Water Services Innovation Fund: The Water Services Innovation Fund (‘the WSIF’)
encourages Irish Water investment in research projects – outside of ‘business as usual’
activities – that have the potential to improve how water services are delivered. The CRU
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established the WSIF in 2015 in the context of its role to periodically approve Irish Water’s
proposed costs of providing public water and wastewater services to its customers. In March
2020, the CRU published its third annual report which provides an update on WSIF projects
undertaken in 2019. In 2019, one project had been completed on time and in budget, one
project was ongoing, and one project had been approved. There were 4 new projects
approved in 2020.
Energy and Water Report: In 2020 the CRU amended its “Retail Market Monitoring Report” which previously only included electricity and gas related information - to include water data.
This report shows trends in Irish Water’s key activities and facilitates its comparison with other
regulated entities. The water sections of the report include information Irish Water’s domestic
and non-domestic customer numbers, along with the following data:
•

Water consumption: Household average and median usage, along with the usage
levels of those that may face an Excess Use Charge.

•

First Fix Scheme: Numbers of leak repairs completed, and associated water savings
achieved.

•

Quality of service: Data on planned and unplanned interruptions to supply, boil water
notices and water restriction notices.

•

Customer complaints: Data on the number of complaints that Irish Water receives per
10,000 customers.

The report is published by the CRU every six months.

Key Achievement 2:
Full Title of Achievement

Publication of New Customer Handbooks

Link to Corporate Strategy

Strategic Priority: Develop effective communications to
support customers and the regulatory process.
Service Activity / Key Objective: Improve awareness among
energy and water customers of their rights, the CRU and the
services we offer.

Summary
In 2020, the CRU reviewed its Domestic and Non-Domestic Handbooks for customers of Irish
Water. The Handbooks set out requirements that Irish Water must follow when providing water
and wastewater services to customers.
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They outline a wide range of customer-protection requirements which Irish Water must comply
with. This is a means of ensuring Irish Water’s customers receive a quality service in areas
such as communications, billing, complaints handling and instances of supply interruptions.
In October, the CRU published its decision on amendments to both Handbooks. This was the
first full review of both Handbooks since the CRU began economic regulation of Irish Water.
The CRU considered this an appropriate time to reconsider the requirements and, where
appropriate, insert new obligations to refresh and enhance the approach taken to customer
protection. The rationale for reviewing and updating the Handbooks was as follows:
•

To reflect CRU policy decisions since 2014, e.g., the First Fix Scheme, the Household
Water Conservation policy, Non-Domestic Tariff Framework and the Connection Policy.

•

To incorporate learnings from the CRU’s role in resolving customer complaints and
audits of Irish Water.

•

To align the requirements in the Handbooks with the requirements in the Energy
Supplier Handbook and ensure a consistent approach to customer protection.

•

To incorporate learnings from other jurisdictions and international best practice
regarding customer protection, where possible.

Some examples of the changes include:
•

Increased the minimum charter payment to a domestic customer from €10 to €30.

•

Introduced standard Terms and Conditions of Supply for Non-Domestic Customers to
provide clarity as to the responsibilities of both Irish Water and the customer.

•

Introduced a new section to the Non-Domestic Billing Code of Practice named
“Determining Charging Liability” which relates to obligations Irish Water have with
regard to the application of the various charging arrangements.

•

Irish Water must now alert a customer if it finds that a meter reading shows an unusual
and significant increase, relative to previous meter reads.

Key Achievement 3:
Full Title of Achievement

Non-Domestic Tariff Application Rules

Link to Corporate Strategy

Strategic Priority: Deliver sustainable, low-carbon solutions
with well-regulated markets and networks.
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Service Activity / Key Objective: Provide effective regulation
of Irish Water to deliver secure, efficient, and sustainable
outcomes in the public interest.

Summary
In July 2020, the CRU published its decision on the Tariff Application Rules for Irish Water’s
Non-Domestic Tariff Framework. This framework will introduce new national harmonised costreflective tariff rates which will apply to Irish Water’s non-domestic water and wastewater
connections. Under this framework non-domestic connections will be placed in one of four tariff
classes based on the annual volume of water they use (or wastewater they discharge for
wastewater only connections). Each tariff class has a different standing charge and volumetric
charge, based on the costs of serving different non-domestic connections. This means that if a
connection changes its annual water use (or wastewater discharge for wastewater only
connections) from year to year, it may change tariff class and be liable to pay different charges.

The different standing charges and volumetric charges in each tariff class mean that some
connections with an annual volume near a tariff class boundary may prefer to be in a position
to pay the tariff rates of the adjacent tariff class, or that some connections that change tariff
class from year to year may face a step change in their annual bill.

The CRU’s decision paper outlines the conditions under which a connection may be placed into
a tariff class and may pay tariff rates (enduring or transitional) which are different from those in
the tariff class corresponding to their annual volume of water consumed. In maintaining
consistency with the overall approach to non-domestic tariffs, the CRU has attempted to
minimise changes from the overall approach, for exceptional circumstances. Therefore, these
exceptional circumstances are focussed on customers that would be adversely affected by step
changes between tariff classes when they change their consumption.

This paper also covers leak allowances granted to non-domestic connections when a leak on
the customer’s side of the meter has been identified and fixed. The leak allowance policy is
designed to protect non-domestic connections from “bill shock” due to leaks, incentivise the
timely identification and fixing of leaks by non-domestic connections, and avoid the risk of unfair
financial burdens being placed on connections with no leaks.
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Key Achievement 4:
Full Title of Achievement

Revenue Control 3 & Financial Performance Incentives

Link to Corporate Strategy

Strategic Priority: Deliver sustainable, low-carbon solutions
with well-regulated markets and networks.
Service Activity / Key Objective: Provide effective regulation
of Irish Water to deliver secure, efficient, and sustainable
outcomes in the public interest.
Service Activity / Key Objective: Proactively and
transparently place the public interest at the centre of the
CRU’s policy development. Ensure that the customer’s voice is
heard and reflected in CRU decisions.

Summary
In 2020, following a public consultation on Irish Water’s Revenue Control 3 (RC3), the CRU
published its final decision on Irish Water’s capital expenditure allowance for its first five-year
revenue control period (covering 2020-2024).
RC3 is the regulatory contract that defines the obligations on Irish Water regarding the
outputs and outcomes it will deliver, and the efficient level of capital (and operating
expenditure) to deliver those outputs and outcomes, over the next five years. The level of
approved expenditure then determines the allowed revenues that Irish Water can receive
through a combination of government subvention, Non-Domestic charges, Excessive Use
charges, and other service charges.
Irish Water provided its business plan to the CRU requesting €5.2 billion in capital costs. Late
in the RC3 revenue control process, Irish Water made a further submission to the CRU
regarding its capital expenditure request. This submission included significant changes to its
planned outputs and outcomes, as well as updated capital investment priorities and costs.
Due to the lack of time and data to complete a thorough assessment of the revised business
plan, the CRU decided to only partially allow Irish Water’s capital expenditure allowance
request. At that time the CRU requested additional information from Irish Water to complete
the assessment of its planned capital expenditure for the five-year period. The CRU also
required Irish Water to have an independent review carried out on its processes and
procedures to develop and finalise its Capital Investment Plan (CIP) to ensure the process is
fit for purpose. The independent review was carried out by Scottish Water International, who
made several recommendations to improve IW’s processes, which the CRU requires IW to
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appropriately implement by the end of 2022. The CRU is engaging with IW on its
implementation of the recommendations.
The CRU’s final decision on Irish Water’s capital expenditure, is to allow €4.9 billion of the
€5.2 billion of capex requested. Earlier in the RC3 process, the CRU set Irish Water an
operational expenditure allowance of €3.5 billion for the five-year period.

Consultation on performance based financial incentives.
In its RC3 decision in August 2020, the CRU decided to put in place performance-based
incentives (financial as well as reputational) for IW. Performance-based incentives are an
important component of revenue control regulation and are a widely used regulatory tool,
aimed at improving a utility’s performance to the benefit of its customers. They complement
and enhance the requirement for a regulated monopoly business to efficiently manage costs
by ensuring that the business has an incentive in the delivery of its responsibilities, particularly
regarding quality, efficiency, and timeliness of service delivery to its customers.
In its RC3 decision, the CRU set out its decisions on incentive regulation. In summary the
areas where performance-based financial incentives for RC3 will apply are:
•Rolling retention of additional operating costs efficiencies;
•Three pre-existing Non-Domestic billing incentives; and
•Leakage Reduction incentive

In December 2020, the CRU published a public consultation on the incentive mechanism for
Irish Water for the RC3 period for two of the Non-Domestic billing incentives and the Leakage
Reduction incentive.

The Non-Domestic billing incentives encourages Irish Water to identify and correctly bill its
non-domestic customers. This is important as customers connected to the network but not
paying a bill, or under paying for their service, impose costs on the Irish Water network which
is ultimately passed on to other customers. In summary the CRU proposes that IW is provided
the opportunity to earn an additional €4m per year per incentive, capped at €10m for all three
Non-Domestic billing incentives combined.
The Leakage Reduction incentive encourages Irish Water to accelerate its leakage reduction
programmes. In summary, the CRU proposes that Irish Water can earn an additional €4m per
year over the RC3 period, if it meets the required standard, or be subject to a €4m per year
penalty if it does not meet that standard.
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The CRU expects to reach a final decision on Irish Water’s financial incentives in Q2 2021.

Key Achievement 5:
Full Title of Achievement

Customer Care

Link to Corporate Strategy

Strategic Priority: Develop effective communications to
support customers and the regulatory process.
Service Activity / Key Objective: Proactively and
transparently place the public interest at the centre of the
CRU’s policy development. Ensure that the customer’s voice is
heard and reflected in CRU decisions.

Summary
During 2020, the CRU’s Customer Care Team continued to provide a high-quality complaint
resolution service for customers along with the provision of information to the public. The CRU
is an approved Dispute Resolution body and the Customer Care Team provide a free dispute
resolution service to customers with an unresolved complaint against an energy supplier,
network operator or Irish Water. Over 200 consumer complaints were investigated by the
CRU in 2020.
The CRU’s Customer Care Team also provides an information service to members of the
public. The CRU received over 4,700 contacts for information through email, telephone, web,
and letters during 2020.

The Customer Care Team published its Annual Report which provides an overview of the
level and type of complaints and contacts made to the CRU. This is published during the year
by the CRU.
The CRU uses information from customer contacts and complaints to promote the interests of
customers in CRU policy. The CRU also engages with suppliers, network operators and Irish
Water on an ongoing basis to continually improve customer service levels and complaint
handling.
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Key Achievement 6:
Full Title of Achievement

Consumer Engagement

Link to Corporate Strategy

Strategic Priority: Develop effective communications to
support customers and the regulatory process.
Service Activity / Key Objective: Improve awareness among
energy and water customers of their rights, the CRU and the
services we offer.

Summary
During 2020, the CRU engaged in a number of activities to understand consumer needs
better and to ensure that customer protection is improved. These included the CRU
Consumer Survey which involved the participation of approximately 2,000 residential
customers and 650 Small and Medium Enterprises (SMEs). The survey measures consumer
engagement, experience and attitudes in the electricity and gas markets in Ireland.

The CCT facilitated consumer engagement through quarterly Consumer Stakeholder Group
meetings at which the CRU meets consumer representative bodies and provides updates on
policy developments to enable engagement through public consultations and provides an
opportunity for the CRU to receive feedback from these bodies.
At a European level, during 2020, the CRU engaged with similar bodies through the National
Energy Ombudsmen Network (NEON) with the aim of exchanging information, experience
and good practice.

The Customer Care Team shares feedback from these engagements across the CRU with
the aim of ensuring that the consumers’ voice is a key consideration in policy development.
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Compliance and Enforcement

Background:
The Compliance and Enforcement team has responsibility for all sectoral compliance and
enforcement activity within the economic regulatory brief. The strengthening of the compliance and
enforcement framework was highlighted as a strategic priority in the CRU’s 2019-2021 Strategic
Plan. In the second year of this plan, the CRU broadened its compliance monitoring and
investigation activities in a number of key areas to include Irish Water, while further developing the
compliance framework. A selection of these activities is outlined below. Objectives of these
activities include the fostering of a culture of compliance amongst regulated entities, providing
enforcement actions that deliver a credible deterrence against non-compliance and the conducting
of activities that represent value in protecting the public interest.

Key Achievement 1:
Full Title of Achievement

Irish Water Audit following Leixlip Boil Water Notice

Link to Corporate Strategy

Strategic Priority: Ensure compliance and accountability
through best regulatory practice.
Service Activity / Key Objective: Strengthen the CRU’s
compliance and enforcement framework across safety, water
and energy to ensure best regulatory practice in all areas of the
organisation’s remit

Summary

In October and November 2019 two separate Boil Water Notices (BWNs) related to issues with the
operation of the Leixlip Water Treatment Plant (WTP) were issued, affecting over 600,000 Irish
Water customers. Due to the scale of the impact of these BWNs, and the two occurrences
happening within a short space of time, in early 2020 the CRU conducted an audit of Irish Water’s
compliance with its customer service and customer protection obligations as set out in the
Customer Handbooks4 during BWNs. Overall, the audit found that Irish Water complied with the
majority of its obligations in relation to the BWNs. However, eight instances of non-compliance
with its obligations were identified which covered five key findings. Irish Water was requested to
undertake remedial actions in three instances, which have been completed.

4

CRU/18041 and CRU/17319
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1

CRU/18041 and CRU/17319

Key Achievement 2:
Full Title of Achievement

Enforcement

Link to Corporate Strategy

Strategic Priority: Ensure compliance and accountability
through best regulatory practice.
Service Activity / Key Objective: Strengthen the CRU’s
compliance framework across safety, water and energy to
ensure best regulatory practice in all areas of the organisation’s
remit

Summary

The CRU published information notes on the outcomes of three investigations conducted in 2020:
1. Electric Ireland’s compliance with the requirements of Condition 18 of their Electricity
Supply Licence (CRU/20170)
2. ESB Networks DAC’s compliance with the requirements of Condition 30 of its Electricity
Distribution System Operator Licence (CRU/20139)
3. Electric Ireland’s compliance with the requirements of Condition 18 of their Electricity
Supply Licence (CRU/20129)
In each of these three investigations, the CRU found that the licensee had breached obligations
within their licence. The CRU was satisfied in each case that appropriate remedial action(s) was
underway or had taken place and that no further compliance or enforcement actions were
required.

Key Achievement 3:
Full Title of Achievement

Consultation on CRU approach to administrative sanctions and
the specification of standards performance
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Link to Corporate Strategy

Strategic Priority: Ensure compliance and accountability
through best regulatory practice.
Service Activity / Key Objective: Strengthen the CRU’s
compliance framework across safety, water and energy to
ensure best regulatory practice in all areas of the organisation’s
remit

Summary

The CRU has been granted new powers to take actions against licensed electricity and gas
suppliers and network companies that do not fulfil “Standards of Performance” (SOPs) as the CRU
deems necessary. These actions include sanctions such as advice, cautions, warnings, or
reprimands, or financial sanctions for serious breaches of their obligations. The introduction of
“administrative sanctions” marks an evolution in the CRU compliance and enforcement toolkit
and has advantages over the existing legal and economic instruments available to the CRU.
In 2020, the CRU consulted on its approach to administrative sanctions and the specification of
SOPs. The paper sets out the overall context for administrative sanctions in terms of the
evolution of the CRU’s compliance and enforcement framework and proposes a model to
describe the various market activities in the context on the categorisation of potential customer
harm. The paper invited interested parties to submit comments on the approach. A decision
paper has since been published (CRU/21029).

Key Achievement 4:
Full Title of Achievement

Compliance and Enforcement Annual Report 2019

Link to Corporate Strategy

Strategic Priority: Develop effective communications to
support customers and the regulatory process.
Service Activity / Key Objective: Improve awareness among
energy and water customers of their rights, the CRU and the
services we offer

Summary
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The 2019 Compliance and Enforcement Annual Report was the second such annual report to
be published and underlined the expansion of compliance and enforcement activities in 2019
in line with the 2019-2021 Strategic Plan. Highlights outlined in the report included:
•

The standardisation of licence compliance reporting across energy supply and
networks licences.

•

The completion of three quarterly spot checks and one annual audit on energy
suppliers.

•

Multiple investigations arising from external complaints or internal initiative.

•

Three Price Comparison Websites (PCWs) were reaccredited following an audit under
the PCW Accreditation Framework.

•

Overseeing compliance in the Single Electricity Market (SEM), specifically through
annual audits.

•

The widening of compliance activity in the conducting of the first formal audit of Irish
Water.

•

The publishing of an Information Paper on Administrative Sanctions, which outlined
the CRU’s approach to new powers granted under the Energy Act 2016.

Key Achievement 5:
Full Title of Achievement

Compliance Monitoring

Link to Corporate Strategy

Strategic Priority: Ensure compliance and accountability
through best regulatory practice.
Service Activity / Key Objective: Strengthen the CRU’s
compliance framework across safety, water and energy to
ensure best regulatory practice in all areas of the organisation’s
remit

Summary
In 2020, the CRU expanded its quarterly spot check activity to include both Energy Networks
and Irish Water. Summarised details for spot checks undertaken in 2020 are outlined below,
with further information papers on spot checks carried out in 2020 due to be published in 2021.
Remedial actions have been completed in relation to all findings.

Spot check

Summary
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Spot

Check

Energy

of

•

Supplier

Compliance

Code of Practice on Billing and the Terms and Conditions of

Q1

Supply.
•

2020

Focused on supplier compliance with requirements of the

Key findings included shortcomings in bills sent to customers
amongst several suppliers and instances of lacking
information in PAYG statements.

Irish

Water

Compliance

•

Spot

Focused on Irish Water’s customer service and customer
protection obligations outlined in the Customer Handbooks in

Check Q1 2020

relation to the information required to be publicly available on
its website.
•

The spot check found that some required details (contact
details and VAT presentation) were not presented in a
compliant manner.

Network
Spot

Licence

Check

•

Q2

Assessed compliance of energy network companies with
licence requirements that specify what should be published

2020

on their websites.
•

The main finding related to required information not being
published on the licensee’s website.

Irish

Water

Compliance

•

Spot

outlined in Customer Handbooks to facilitate testing of water

Check Q2 2020
Spot
Energy

Check

2020

meters upon request from a customer.
of

•

Supplier

Compliance

Assessed compliance of Irish Water with requirements

Q3

Focused on electricity and gas supply disconnections for
non-payment of account.

•

Key findings included certain suppliers failing to outline
options to avoid disconnection in written communication to
customers and a supplier failing to send two written letters to
domestic customers prior to disconnection as required.

In parallel, the CRU required all licensees to submit an annual licence compliance report.
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Energy Markets and Smart Metering
Key Achievement 1:
Full Title of Achievement

Covid-19 Customer Protection Measures

Link to Corporate Strategy

Strategic Priority: Compliance and Accountability Through
Best Regulatory Practice
Service Activity / Key Objective: 4.3 Build Resilience in
relation to our processes and priorities to account for changes in
the external environment
Strategic Priority: Protect the Public Interest in Water,
Energy and Energy Safety
Service Activity / Key Objective: 1.0 Protecting the public
interest in Water, Energy and Energy Safety

Summary

The CRU implemented customer protection measures for domestic and non-domestic energy
customers in 2020 in response to the Covid-19 pandemic. The domestic measures included a
moratorium on disconnection of account for non-payment for all customers for designated
periods of time and an increase to the emergency credit allowance for gas pay-as-you-go
customers.
These measures were introduced to ensure continuity of supply for all domestic customers
who were impacted by the public health restrictions.
The CRU also developed and implemented a scheme for non-domestic customers to allow
them to avail of a temporary suspension of network charges if their business premises was
closed due to public health restrictions. This scheme was available from April to July 2020
during a period of significant uncertainty for businesses.
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Key Achievement 2:
Full Title of

Smart Metering – Phase 1 Checkpoint Review

Achievement

Link to Corporate

Strategic Priority: Effective Communications to Support the

Strategy

Customer and the Regulatory Process
Service Activity / Key Objective: 3.1 Proactively and transparently
place the public interest at the centre of CRU’s policy development
and decision making. Ensure that the customer’s voice is heard and
reflected in CRU decisions.

Summary

The CRU approved and published an information paper on the National Smart Metering
Programme phase 1 checkpoint review. This work was a key element of the phased approach
agreed in 2017 and provided an opportunity for the CRU and market participants to consider
the impact of any legislative and regulatory changes, customer sentiment and take up during
the previous phase, and any changes in technology.
The review findings informed the policy roadmap for 2021 and beyond and includes smart
pay-as-you-go, microgeneration and gas smart metering.
By the end of 2020, 240k meters were installed with progression towards the go live of smart
meter services in early 2021.

Key Achievement 3:
Full Title of Achievement

Retail Market Monitoring and Reporting

Link to Corporate Strategy

Strategic Priority: Effective Communications to Support the
Customer and the Regulatory Process
Service Activity / Key Objective: 3.1 Proactively and
transparently place the public interest at the centre of CRU’s
policy development and decision making. Ensure that the
customer’s voice is heard and reflected in CRU decisions.
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Summary

The CRU has a detailed market monitoring framework which reports on a wide range of
metrics, including energy prices, supplier switching rates, supplier market shares and
customer protection measures. These indicators provide an enhanced level of oversight of
how the market is operating and facilitates the CRU to take any necessary action in the
interests of customers.
The CRU also commenced more in-depth market monitoring activity in July 2020 to
understand the impact of Covid-19 on the market trends, showing increases in the number of
customers in arrears, in both gas and electricity, comparing December 2020 to December
2019. The CRU also started to publish a report in this regard showing arrears and NonPayment of Account (NPA) disconnections every two months to highlight this information and
to help inform policy development both within CRU (such as moratoriums on disconnections)
and within the wider public sector

Key Achievement 4:
Full Title of Achievement

Smart Metering Data Access Paper

Link to Corporate Strategy

Strategic Priority: Effective Communications to Support the
Customer and the Regulatory Process
Service Activity / Key Objective: 3.1 Proactively and
transparently place the public interest at the centre of CRU’s
policy development and decision making. Ensure that the
customer’s voice is heard and reflected in CRU decisions.
Strategic Priority: Protect the Public Interest in Water, Energy
and Energy Safety
Service Activity / Key Objective: 1.0 Protecting the public
interest in Water, Energy and Energy Safety

Summary
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In 2020 the CRU published an information paper on data access for the National Smart
Metering Programme. The paper set out the approach, methodology and results of the Data
Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) and Cyber Security Technical Readiness Assessment
of retail electricity market participants for the National Smart Metering Programme (NSMP)
which were carried out by Gemserv on behalf of the CRU.
The CRU will continue to consider the data protection implications of the NSMP as it evolves
and moves into the next stages. Maintaining and protecting the privacy of final customers will
remain a key consideration in future policy development and assessments will continue to be
based on best practice.

Key Achievement 5:
Full Title of Achievement

EU Network Code Implementation Project

Link to Corporate Strategy

Strategic Priority: Deliver sustainable, low-carbon solutions
with well-regulated markets and networks
Service Activity / Key Objective: Build resilience in our
processes and priorities to account for changes in the external
environment including Brexit and the implementation of the
Clean Energy Package

Summary

During 2020, the CRU began wrapping up its extensive EU Network Code implementation
project. This project has involved implementation of the suite of the EU Third Energy Package
Network Codes and Guidelines. This project was initiated in 2017.
In 2020, the CRU concluded its work on the Demand Connection Code, High Voltage Direct
Current Network Code, and Requirements for Generators Network Code. The CRU also
almost concluded its work on the Emergency Restoration and System Operation Guidelines.
The outstanding work on the Network Code implementation project is limited to just a limited
number of decisions and therefore in late 2020, the CRU’s EU Network Code and Clean
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Energy Package Team began drafting project wrap-up, which is expected to conclude in mid2021.
The Electricity Balancing Guideline (EBGL) will be progressed as a stand-alone work item to
the EU Network Code implementation in 2021, with a consultation on the compliance of the
SEM Trading and Settlement Code with the EBGL published in April 2021. The EU Network
Code and Clean Energy Package Team will continue working on the ongoing implementation
of the network codes as necessary, and will work to influence the development of new EU
Network Codes – but the formal EU Network Code project structure that was in place can now
be closed.

Key Achievement 6:
Full Title of Achievement

Clean Energy Package – Active Consumers and Energy
Communities

Link to Corporate Strategy

Strategic Priority: Deliver sustainable, low-carbon solutions
with well-regulated markets and networks
Service Activity / Key Objective: Build resilience in our
processes and priorities to account for changes in the external
environment including Brexit and the implementation of the
Clean Energy Package

Summary

In 2020, the CRU published the first in a series of consultation exercises on the
implementation of the Clean Energy Package vision for a decentralised energy transition, in
particular around the areas of active consumers and energy communities. The Calls for
Evidence on Energy Communities and Active Consumers (CRU/20/099 & CRU/20/098) were
published in December 2020 and raised a range of issues which will need to be addressed to
facilitate the full implementation of the Clean Energy Package requirements. The responses
to these calls for evidence formed the basis of the CRU’s Consultation on Energy
Communities and Active Consumers (CRU/21/028).
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While exploratory in nature, these papers set out, at a very high level, a changed approach to
the operation of the electricity market, whereby consumers change from being predominantly
passive to taking an active role in the production, sharing or sale of their own electricity –
whether on an individual basis or through jointly acting community structures. The Clean
Energy Package envisages significant changes in the operation of the market and the role of
consumers therein, including the expected evolution of new market actors and activities; thus,
the work initiated in 2020 will likely continue for the next number of years leading to the likely
transformation of the retail market in Ireland.

Key Achievement 7:
Full Title of Achievement

Updated PSO Auditing Arrangements

Link to Corporate Strategy

Strategic Priority:
Develop Effective Communications to Support Customers and
the Regulatory Process
Service Activity / Key Objective:
Proactively and transparently place the public interest at the
centre of the CRU policy.

Summary

In January 2020, the CRU published a Notification to Suppliers (CRU/20/019) which set out
the set out the CRU’s auditing requirements for all electricity supplier companies claiming
REFIT support under the PSO levy. This document also introduced a Certification Pack that is
to be completed annually by each supply company in receipt of PSO levy support. This
Certification Pack will require senior management in each supply company to provide signed
declarations, confirmations, and statements regarding their annual PSO (REFIT) cost
submission.
This initiative was taken by the CRU to further standardise the auditing of suppliers’ PSO
costs and to further improve PSO submission and reporting arrangements by ensuring greater
accuracy and consistency. The publication of this document provides further transparency
regarding suppliers’ PSO cost submissions and supports the accurate calculation of PSO

51

monies owed to/by market participants. This initiative protects the interests of the Irish
electricity customer while supporting Ireland in meeting its renewable energy targets. To
facilitate further transparency in the calculation of the PSO levy, the CRU also published an
additional annex (CRU/20/086a) alongside its 2020/21 PSO Decision Paper. This annex
details historical PSO payment information for each project in receipt of PSO support.

Key Achievement 8:
Full Title of Achievement

Transition to Post-Brexit Wholesale Electricity Market
Arrangements

Link to Corporate Strategy

Strategic Priority: Ensure Compliance and Accountability
through Best Regulatory Practice
Service Activity / Key Objective: Build resilience in our
processes and priorities to account for changes in the external
environment including Brexit and the implementation of the
Clean Energy Package

Summary

Throughout 2020, the CRU worked with EirGrid and DECC to help ensure a smooth transition
to post-Brexit wholesale electricity trading arrangements from 1 January 2021, following the
entry into force of the Withdrawal Agreement between the EU and UK in February 2020. This
work involved the preparation of updated contingency plans and coordination during the
transition period.
A number of steps were also taken through the SEM Committee to facilitate trade between
the SEM and GB and to help address any losses in efficiency. These steps included the
introduction of new arrangements to facilitate greater access of GB participants to the SEMGB Intraday Markets, as well as the introduction of new more flexible order types to the
Intraday Markets. This work has allowed the wholesale market in the SEM to maintain an
actively traded link to the GB wholesale market in a way that is efficient, thus protecting the
all-island consumers from possible detriment following Brexit.
The CRU also continued to work during the transition period with the National Regulators of
other countries interconnected with the United Kingdom. This cooperation will continue in
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2021 in the context of the implementation of relevant aspects of the EU-UK Trade and
Cooperation Agreement.

Key Achievement 9:
Full Title of Achievement

Delivery of First Renewable Electricity Support Scheme
Auction

Link to Corporate Strategy

Strategic Priority: Deliver sustainable, low-carbon solutions
with well-regulated markets and networks.
Service Activity / Key Objective: Deliver market policies that
support a low carbon future whilst supporting competitiveness
and security of supply.

Summary

In 2020 the CRU played a key role in the delivery of the first Renewable Electricity Support
Scheme (RESS 1) auction. The CRU role drew on its significant experience of market design
and understanding of the wider marketplace.
The CRU was responsible for carrying out the pipeline analysis, which provided sight of the
number of potential projects eligible to participate in the auction. The CRU was also
responsible for carrying out the competition assessment that fed into the competition
parameter setting for the auction. This ensured that the auction would have a competitive
outcome. Additionally, the CRU appointed and oversaw the work of the auction monitor and
market auditor for RESS 1.
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Operations and Organisational Development
Human Resources
Impact of COVID-19
2020 was a period of substantial challenge and change for the CRU as we reacted to the COVID19 pandemic. The priority for Human Resources (HR) was supporting staff whose resilience and
resourcefulness allowed them to rapidly adapt to working in new circumstances while continuing
to deliver the CRU Work Plan.
The HR Department introduced new policies and procedures for remote working and also focused
on well-being of staff working from home with the challenges of caring for children and other family
members and, for some, isolation during what was a potentially stressful time. Work also got under
way to prepare the CRU’s Protocol for Return to the Office in line with Government guidance.

The HR Team are part of the Business Continuity Group which was activated to implement
measures to support business continuity during the COVID-19 pandemic. The Group meet every
second week and continue to arrange for attendance of staff to the office to carry out essential
work and to plan for our return to the office as restrictions are lifted.
Recruitment and Selection
At the end of the year the CRU had 113 staff members with an average headcount for the year of
109 staff members.
Throughout 2020, the CRU continued to build and develop our capacity, continuing recruitment
campaigns to fill vacancies internally and by open competition. Ensuring fair and transparent
recruitment, the HR Department conducted all interviews and onboarding of new recruits online
using Microsoft Teams.

The CRU conducted 11 recruitment campaigns in 2020 to fill vacancies. 15 new staff members
commenced employment and 11 internal employees were promoted during the year. The CRU
also recruited 10 members to sit on two sperate panel of experts for the recognition of
international professional qualifications, for electrical and gas contractors.
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External
Posts

Recruited

Directors

1

Senior Technical Inspector

1

Senior Analysts
2
Analysts
6
Graduate Analysts
4
Administration
1
Total
15
Table: Recruitment Campaigns 2020

Internal
Posts
Recruited
Managers
2
Analysts

7

Senior
Analyst

2

Total

11

Panel Members
Posts
Recruited
Gas Expert
5
Panel
Electrical
5
Expert Panel

Total

10

Workforce Planning
The CRU’s workforce plan was completed and submitted to the Department of Environment and
Climate Change in October 2020. The Plan detailed requirements for resources to address the
priorities set out in the CRU’s Strategic Plan 2019-2021 involved significant consultation across
the organisation. The CRU has not received sanction to fill requested posts as yet.
Development of HR Policies
The HR Department developed a new staff handbook incorporating all HR policies (##) in 2020.
The staff handbook is distributed to all new recruits and is also available to existing staff. Policies
and procedures were also fully updated on the CRU Intranet for access of staff while working
remotely. Further, 12 policies were updated in 2020 as part of the HR policy review schedule.

Training and Development
The CRU supports staff by building capacity and skills through a range of training and
development opportunities to enable performance for the purposes of achieving our strategic
priorities. The 2020 Training Plan included 7 in-house courses that were attended remotely by
staff. In addition, a course on managing staff in a remote environment was run for the full
management team.
Health, Safety and Wellbeing
Like many organisations, the CRU’s full workforce moved to remote working from March 2020.
All staff were offered ergonomic assessments within the first few months of remote working and
provided with specific office equipment e.g. chairs, laptop stands etc, where the requirement was
identified.

Recognising the challenges arising for the duration of COVID-19 restrictions, the HR Department
made available health and wellbeing supports from Spectrum Health. These included webinars
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on building resilience, beating burnout, mindfulness, a digital gym as well as the Employee
Assistance Programme (EAP).

The Health, Safety and Wellbeing committee also met several times throughout the year with the
impact of COVID-19 the main agenda item. The committee has also coordinated the update of
the CRU Safety Statement and specific Risk Assessments in relation to COVID-19.

Co-Ordination of Integrated Business Planning
The HR Department co-ordinated quarterly reports to the Commission on the implementation of
the CRU’s strategy through the Integrated Business Planning process. Management and staff
monitored progress against planned outputs, which are also incorporated into the CRU’s
Performance Management and Development process to assess performance at an individual
level, is coordinated through this process.

Corporate Procurement Plan
The CRU is committed to meeting its obligations as detailed in national and EU procurement laws
and regulations. In addition to compliance matters, the CRU central procurement function supports
the organisations’ business objectives and is focused on delivering the optimal outcome to
tendering processes issued on behalf of CRU.
Procurement planning is an integral part of business planning at CRU. The CRU Corporate
Procurement Plan (CPP) based on key findings from analysis of both past and future procurementrelated spend covering a two-year period, 2020 to 2021, focusing on critical contracts and
significant purchases is published on our website.
As referenced in the CRU CPP, current Irish policy on Sustainable Public Procurement encourages
public bodies to implement green criteria into their procurement processes and to consider full life
cycle costs. Guidance is provided to contracting authorities should they wish to implement
Sustainable Public Procurement, but to a great extent, flexibility remains with contracting
authorities as to how they conduct their procurements. With the current public procurement focus
on circular procurement and social outcomes contracting, links between green, social and
innovation procurement; the CRU has developed a Sustainable Public Procurement policy which:
•

Outlines the concepts of sustainable procurement, the general principles underpinning it,
and the options available for sustainability in CRU procurement decisions; and

•

Provides information as to how CRU can include sustainability considerations in all stages
of the procurement process.
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Note:
•

The Final CRU Financial Statements 2020; contains the Governance Statement, the
Statement on Internal Control and the Accounts for 2020; no additional text required in
body of annual report.

Communications and Public Affairs
The CRU continued to develop its internal and external practices to enhance communication with
consumers and wider stakeholder groups.

Consumer Communications
At the start of 2020, the CRU had planned a national “SwitchOn” campaign building on the success of
previous campaigns to promote switching, energy safety and consumer rights in relation to energy and
water. Due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, the campaign was redesigned with the focus on
digital engagement activity across a range of platforms.
The campaign featured a targeted social media influencer campaign featuring Maia Dunphy that was
designed to engage customers with the concept of getting better value by switching energy suppliers.
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Maia Dunphy (pictured above) led the Switching Challenge as part of the CRU #SwitchOn influencer
campaign

A unique feature of the campaign was the use of a new technology that would allow consumers to search
for information using voice activated software with the widely used Google Alexa. By simply asking
Alexa, “Where can I find out about switching my energy supplier?” or , the Alexa voice app would provide
information and guidance to reliable, independent advice to support energy customer rights to switch, as
well as other important

As with previous campaigns in 2018 and 2019, the CRU activities had a positive effect in terms of
increasing awareness levels and consumers accessing consumer information and services on line and
contributing to the recovery of switching during 2020 following a decrease in activity due to COVID-19.
Other consumer campaigns in 2020 included communications support for the CRU measures and policy
decisions introduced to protect consumers during the national COVID-19 pandemic. This required a
broader approach with the utilisation of a digital and social platforms to ensure the message and
required actions of customers were clearly communicated.
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Corporate Communications
The Communications and Public Affairs Function continued to provide support to all of the organisations
divisions to assist in the communication of key external consultations and decisions of the CRU to the
general public.

The impact of COVID also generated an increase in engagement levels relating to policy decisions and
consumer issues with Oireachtas members, media and other relevant stakeholders. In addition to this,
the Commission continued to engage with various Oireachtas Committees in relation to the Climate
Action Bill and other relevant policy areas.

During 2020, the CRU celebrated its 21-year anniversary having being established in 1999. Taking into
account the particular set of circumstances facing the CRU and economic regulators generally in 2020,
the CRU organised a webinar titled “Regulation in a Pandemic”. Facilitated by Economic and Social
Research Institute Director, Professor Alan Barrett, the webinar featured presentations from the
Competition and Consumer Protection Commission, the Broadcasting Authority of Ireland, the
Commission for Aviation Regulation and the Commission for Communications Regulation.

The webinar Focused on challenges faced within the relevant industries and the importance of the
regulator’s role in supporting stakeholders and the public interest during the COVID-19 pandemic and
beyond.

CRU Customer Charter and Action Plan
The Communications and Public Affairs function also developed and consulted upon the first CRU
Customer Action plan. Under Government policy, each State Body or agency is required to have in place
a Customer Charter and Customer Action Plan.

The Customer Charter states the CRU’s commitment to providing services to its customers in accordance
with the twelve Principles of Quality Customer Service for Customers and Clients of the Public Service.
In addition, the Customer Charter is supported by a new CRU Customer Action Plan, which describes in
detail how the commitments and standards set out in the Customer Charter, and other customer service
improvements, will be delivered and evaluated. These were published in November and a plan for the
implementation of the Charter and Action Plan will be delivered in 2021.
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Information and Communications Technology
During 2020, the CRU Information and Communications Technology (ICT) Department continued to
work on enhancing the organisation’s ICT systems, applications and networks in order to ensure
that staff are provided with secure, reliable and robust platforms, that assist in the delivery of a
high standard of service to all stakeholders.
Key initiatives in 2020 as set out in the CRU ICT Strategy 2017 – 2020 included:
• Enhancement of the CRU Customer Care CRM Solution;
• Development and support for the various CRU websites;
• Development of the CRU ICT infrastructure and application portfolio;
• Focus

on the

CRU

of additional security solutions,

ICT

Security Systems including implementation

layers and

mechanisms to

protect

the

CRU

systems, users, networks, applications and data;
• Continued migration and adoption of cloud computing technologies to enhance CRU’s

capabilities;
• Strengthening of CRUs ICT Business Continuity & Disaster Recovery Solutions;
• Continued delivery of cybersecurity training, system audits and penetration testing; and
• Development of the next CRU ICT Strategy to cover the period 2021 - 2024.

The ICT Dept. also worked with the appointed Electrical and Gas Safety Supervisory
Bodies (SSBs) and an outsourced external service provider to build a new Scheme Information
Management System (SIMS) This new solution is a major digital transformation project
and will introduce significant efficiencies into the future for the management of scheme data.
In March 2020, the CRU transitioned to a full remote working model with all staff working from
home in line with restrictions put in place to prevent the spread of COVID-19. Over three days,
the ICT Department put in place a full remote working solution for the organisation launching
Microsoft Teams, rolling out laptops for all staff and putting in place support arrangements for
home working.

Helpdesk support required a huge level of effort from the ICT Department and managed
service providers, to

provide

support

for systems enabling remote working. Work was

also commenced on commissioning ICT systems and support for a hybrid working model
when the CRU returns to the office in 2021.

The ICT team and broader Facilities team are also members of the Business Continuity Group
which was formed to deal with the potential impacts on the CRU of the COVID-19 pandemic. As
part of that work, the ICT team has worked with the Group to develop measures set out in
the Protocol for Return to the Office.
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Annual Accounts and Governance Statement (attached document)
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Report of the Commission
I have pleasure in presenting the audited financial statements of the Commission for Regulation of
Utilities for the year ended 31 December 2020.
Principal Activities
The Commission for Regulation of Utilities (CRU) was initially established as the Commission for
Electricity Regulation under the Electricity Regulation Act, 1999. The functions of the Commission
along with its name were changed by the Gas (Interim Regulation) Act, 2002. Under this Act, the
functions of the Commission were expanded to include the regulation of the natural gas sector and
the name was changed to the Commission for Energy Regulation (CER). Following the
commencement of the Energy Act 2016, the CER was required to change its name to fully incorporate
all aspects of its expanded role, namely the Commission for Regulation of Utilities (CRU).
As well as these founding pieces of legislation, the functions and duties of the CRU have been altered
and expanded significantly by legislation transposing EU directives into Irish law and the introduction
of new primary legislation, including the Energy (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 2006, Electricity
Regulation (Amendment) (Single Electricity Market) Act 2007 and the Petroleum (Exploration and
Extraction) Safety Act 2010. Among other matters, these pieces of legislation have given the
Commission powers in relation to the all-island Single Electricity Market (SEM) and they have also
given the Commission safety-related responsibilities in the energy sector. The Commission’s functions
and duties in the water sector are set out in the Water Services Act 2013, the Water Services (No.2)
Act 2013 and in more recent legislation in the Water Services Act 2017.
Income
The Commission is funded by levy, safety case fees and licence income received from the relevant
electricity, gas, LPG, water, and petroleum safety regulated entities. The Petroleum Safety function is
funded in two ways: an annual industry levy and safety case assessment fees. The safety case fees
cover the costs associated with assessment of a safety case. The petroleum undertaking that submits
the safety case for assessment is liable for the associated safety case fee. As the CRU will not know
the final safety case fee until the assessment is completed, the petroleum undertaking will submit an
initial safety case fee with its safety case submission. Once the final fee is determined, the CRU will
reimburse the petroleum undertaking where the final fee is lower than the initial fee paid, or bill the
petroleum undertaking for the additional costs where the final costs are higher than the initial fee.
Financial Results
Details of the financial results of the Commission for the year are set out in the Financial Statements
and in the related notes.
Auditor and Accounts
Paragraph 25 of the Schedule to the Electricity Regulation Act, 1999 as amended requires the
Commission to prepare financial statements in such form as may be approved by the Minister for
Environment, Climate and Communications with the concurrence of the Minister for Public Expenditure
and Reform. The Commission submits accounts in respect of each year to the Comptroller and Auditor
General. As soon as may be subsequent to the audit the Commission is required to present to the
Minister for Environment, Climate and Communications a copy of such accounts together with the
audit report of the Comptroller and Auditor General.
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Going Concern
The Commissioners, after making enquiries, believe that the Commission has adequate resources to
continue in operation for the foreseeable future and it is appropriate to adopt the going concern basis
in preparing the financial statements.
Prompt Payment of Accounts
The Commission acknowledges its responsibility for ensuring compliance, in all material respects, with
the provision of the European Communities (Late Payments in Commercial Transactions) Regulations
2012. Procedures have been implemented to identify dates upon which invoices fall due for payment
and to ensure payments are made by applicable dates. Such procedures provide reasonable
assurance against material non-compliance with the provisions as referred to above. The payment
policy for the year under review was to comply with the requirements as specified in the Regulations.

On behalf of the Commission

Aoife MacEvilly, Chairperson

Date: 13th May 2021

4
CRU Annual Report 2020

CRU Financial Statements 2020

Report for presentation to the Houses of the Oireachtas
Commission for Regulation of Utilities
Opinion on financial statements
I have audited the financial statements of the Commission for Regulation of Utilities for the
year ended 31 December 2020 as required under the provisions of paragraph 25 of the
schedule of the Electricity Regulation Act 1999 (as amended). The financial statements
comprise
• the statement of income and expenditure and retained revenue reserves
• the statement of comprehensive income
• the statement of financial position
• the statement of cash flows and
• the related notes, including a summary of significant accounting policies.
In my opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities and
financial position of the Commission for Regulation of Utilities as at 31 December 2020 and of
its income and expenditure for 2020 in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard (FRS)
102 – The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and the Republic of Ireland.
Basis of opinion
I conducted my audit of the financial statements in accordance with the International Standards
on Auditing (ISAs) as promulgated by the International Organisation of Supreme Audit
Institutions. My responsibilities under those standards are described in the appendix to this
report. I am independent of the Commission for Regulation of Utilities and have fulfilled my
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the standards.
I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for my opinion.

Report on information other than the financial statements, and on other
matters
The Commission for Regulation of Utilities has presented certain other information together
with the financial statements. This comprises the report of the Commission, the governance
statement and the statement on internal control. My responsibilities to report in relation to such
information, and on certain other matters upon which I report by exception, are described in
the appendix to this report.
I have nothing to report in that regard.
Andrew Harkness
For and on behalf of the
Comptroller and Auditor General
21 May 2021
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Appendix to the report
Responsibilities of Commission members

•

As detailed in the governance statement, the Commission is
responsible for
•

the preparation of financial statements in the form
prescribed under paragraph 25 of the schedule to the
Electricity Regulation Act 1999 (as amended)

•

ensuring that the financial statements give a true and fair
view in accordance with FRS102

•

ensuring the regularity of transactions

•

assessing whether the use of the going concern basis of
accounting is appropriate, and

•

such internal control as they determine is necessary to
enable preparation of financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Responsibilities of the Comptroller and Auditor
General
I am required under paragraph 25 of the schedule to the
Electricity Regulation Act 1999 (as amended) to audit the
Commission’s financial statements and to report thereon to
the Houses of the Oireachtas.
My objective in carrying out the audit is to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement due to fraud or error.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the
ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with the ISAs, I exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. In doing so,

•

I identify and assess risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements whether due to fraud or error; design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks;
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•

I obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
internal controls.

•

I evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures.

•

I conclude on the appropriateness of the use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, on whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Commission’s ability to continue
as a going concern. If I conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my
report to the related disclosures in the financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to date of my report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Commission to
cease to continue as a going concern.
I evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

I communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that I identify during my audit.
Information other than the financial statements
My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the
other information presented with those statements, and I do
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with my audit of the financial statements, I am
required under ISAs to read the other information presented
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or with
knowledge obtained during the audit, or of if it otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work I
have performed, I conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, I am required to report
that fact.
Reporting on other matters
My audit is conducted by reference to the special
considerations which attach to State bodies in relation to their
management and operation. I report if there are material
matters relating to the manner in which public business has
been conducted.
I seek to obtain evidence about the regularity of financial
transactions in the course of the audit. I report if there is any
material instance where public money has not been applied
for the purposes intended or where transactions did not
conform to the authorities governing them.
I report by exception if, in my opinion,
•
I have not received all the information and explanations I
required for my audit, or
•
the accounting records were not sufficient to permit the
financial statements to be readily and properly audited, or

•

the financial statements are not in agreement with the
accounting records.
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Governance Statement
The CRU is governed by a Chairperson and Commissioners, collectively known as the “Commission”.
The sectoral responsibilities and legislative mandate of the CRU include the following:
Electricity:

Electricity Regulation Act, 1999 and later the Energy (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act
2006 Electricity Regulation (Amendment) (Single Electricity Market) Act 2017, Energy
Act 2016;

Gas:

Gas (Interim) (Regulation) Act, 2002; Energy Act 2016;

Energy Safety: Gas (Interim) (Regulation) Act, 2002; Energy (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 2006;
Petroleum (Exploration and Extraction) Safety Act 2015;
Water:

Water Services Act 2013 and Water Services Act (No.2) Act 2013, the Water Services
Act 2014 and the Water Services Act 2017.

As the CRU is a regulatory body, the standard board structure for State Bodies is not applicable. Under
its founding legislation CRU was set up as a Commission and consists of three members. The Chair
of the Commission is selected by the Minister from the serving Commissioners on a rotating basis for
a defined term.
The Commission is responsible for ensuring good governance and performs this task by setting
strategic objectives and targets and taking strategic decisions on all key business issues. The
Commissioners and senior management team follow the strategic direction set by the Commission in
the CRU Strategy Statement 2019 to 2021. The Commission ensures that all members of the senior
management team have a clear understanding of the key activities and decisions related to CRU, and
of any significant risks likely to arise. The regular day-to-day management, control and direction of
CRU are the responsibility of the Chairperson, the Members of the Commission and the senior
management team.
CRU falls under the aegis of the Department of Environment, Climate and Communications (DECC)
for all activities except water services, which is governed by the Department of Housing, Local
Government and Heritage (DHLGH). An Oversight Agreement which sets out the broad governance
framework within which the CRU operates and clearly defines its relationship with the two Departments
was agreed in December 2017. As the CRU is independent in the performance of its functions under
the provisions of the Electricity Regulation Act, 1999 (as amended), it is not subject to a Performance
Delivery Agreement with DECC and DHLGH.
Under paragraph 26 of the Schedule to the Electricity Regulation Act 1999, CRU shall, whenever so
requested, account for the performance of its functions to a Joint Committee of the Oireachtas and
shall have regard to any recommendations of such Joint Committee relevant to its functions.
Commission Responsibilities
The CRU has a three-person Commission which is responsible for setting the strategic direction for
the CRU, monitoring its performance, and ensuring CRU’s compliance with its legislative provisions
as well as the organisation’s constitution and policies. The Commissioners make all key policy
decisions, which are taken collectively and, in the case of a vote, by simple majority. Commission
decisions are normally based on proposals and recommendations prepared by CRU Directors and
staff1. Clear and predictable functioning of the Commission is set out in the Commission Rules and
Procedures, updated and approved in June 2018. Commissioners delegate authority to Directors as
appropriate for technical decision making.

1

Minutes of the Commission Meetings are published on the CRU website www.cru.ie
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Paragraph 25 of the Schedule to the Electricity Regulation Act, 1999 as amended requires the
Commission to keep, in such form as may be approved by the Minister for Environment, Climate and
Communications with the consent of the Minister for Public Expenditure and Reform, all proper and
usual accounts of moneys received and expended by it.
In preparing these financial statements, the Commission is required to:
• select suitable accounting policies and apply them consistently,
• make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent,
• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis, unless that basis is inappropriate
to presume that it will continue in operation, and
• state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material
departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements.
The Commission is responsible for keeping adequate accounting records which disclose, with
reasonable accuracy at any time, its financial position and enables it to ensure that the financial
statements comply with the Electricity Regulation Act 1999, as amended. The maintenance and
integrity of the corporate and financial information on the CRU’s website is the responsibility of the
Commission.
The Commission is responsible for approving the annual work-plan and budget. An evaluation of the
performance of CRU by reference to the 2020 annual work-plan and budget, was carried out quarterly
during the year.
The Commission is also responsible for safeguarding its assets and hence for taking reasonable steps
for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
The Commission consider that the financial statements of CRU give a true and fair view of the financial
performance and the financial position of CRU at 31 December 2020.
Risk Management
The main purpose of the CRU Risk Management Framework is to integrate the process for managing
risk into the organisation's various governance and operational processes. These include strategy and
planning, management, reporting, policy development, our values and our culture. An integrated and
holistic approach to risk management is one of the keystones to achieving effective corporate
governance. In applying the policy framework principles, the CRU can respond appropriately to
significant business, strategic, operational, finance, compliance and other risks that threaten the
successful achievement of strategic and operational objectives.
The Commission provides leadership in promoting risk management, addresses key risks in the
context of the organisational Strategic Plan and determines the CRU’s risk appetite. The focus of the
Commission is on the key business risks / principal risks and uncertainties. The CRU maintains
centralised records about the key identified risks and uncertainties in the corporate Risk Register. The
register is the primary tool for risk tracking, containing the overall schedule of risks, their up to date
assessment and the status of any risk mitigation actions. These risks are monitored on a bi-monthly
basis by the Commission. Other risks are monitored and reported on at other levels within the CRU.
However, assurance in the management of these risks is provided to the Commission through
oversight of the Divisional Risk Registers on a bi-monthly basis.
As part of the Risk Management Framework, the CRU has developed a Risk Appetite Statement which
states that the CRU has an overall conservative risk appetite. The CRU acts in accordance with this
Risk Appetite Statement to achieve its strategic objectives. The CRU employs robust risk management
principles, transparent decision-making, and effective communication to prioritise risk. The CRU
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operates with integrity, maintains strong ethical standards, and adheres to applicable legal
requirements. The CRU recognises that it is not practicable or desirable to avoid all risk. Accordingly,
the CRU tolerates some risk in pursuit of its mission and values. Acceptance of any risk is subject to
ensuring that potential benefits and risks are fully understood and that measures to mitigate risks have
been established. The Risk Appetite Statement establishes a risk tolerance in a number of categories
and the CRU have considered a number of factors to determine its tolerance for each of these risks.
Commission Structure
The CRU is structured into the Commission (formed by three Commissioners) with five separate
Divisions, with each Division led by a Director. This structure reflects the CRU’s varied economic,
customer protection and safety responsibilities in energy as well as its role as economic water
regulator. The Senior Management Team (‘SMT’) within CRU consists of the three Commissioners
(one being the Chairperson) and five Directors. The Senior Manager – Finance and Governance fulfils
the role of Secretary to the Commission.
The SMT have a formal scheduled meeting each week. Meetings are chaired by the Chairperson and
are attended by other employees of the CRU as required. Minutes are maintained of all meetings
which include details of any decisions made.
The Members of the Commission are appointed by the Minister, the terms of appointment are
prescribed in legislation as being no less than five and not more than seven years, usually five. Their
mandates can be renewed once, for a total of ten years. The Chair of the Commission is selected by
the Minister from the serving Commissioners on a rotating basis for a period of typically two to three
years, but there is no prescribed term for this. The table below details the appointment period for
current Members of the Commission:
Commission
Member
Aoife MacEvilly

Role

Date Appointed from/to

Chairperson2

Paul McGowan

Commissioner

Jim Gannon

Commissioner

From 6 October 2014 to 5 October 2019; re-appointed
6 October 2019 to 5 October 2024
From 1 March 2013 to 28 February 2018; re-appointed
1 March 2018 to 28 February 2023
From 7 October 2019 to 6 October 2024

The Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) on 21 February 2018
published the findings of a peer review of the CRU that was conducted in 2017. The peer review report
is entitled “Driving Performance at Ireland’s Commission for Regulation of Utilities” and represents an
independent assessment of the CRU’s governance; including structures, accountability and process.
Details of the review are available on the CRU’s website at https://www.cru.ie/OECDReviewCRU. The
CRU has incorporated the main recommendations made, into its priorities as a multi-sector economic
and safety regulator, as part of its Strategic Plan for the period 2019 to 2021.
In March 2020, the CRU commissioned the Institute of Public Administration (IPA) to facilitate an
Effectiveness Review of the Commission. In general, an effectiveness review is an important
component of good governance practice, providing the Commission and its Commissioners with an
important opportunity to reflect on the Commission’s own performance and to:
• consider its contribution to the organisation, highlighting areas of effectiveness, how it might
enhance its role, add further value and address potential weaknesses;
• review and reflect on the Commissions’ role and performance;
2

Aoife MacEvilly appointed as Chairperson on 29 February 2020; Paul McGowan, Chairperson to 28 February 2020
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•
•

establish transparency and trust with stakeholders by providing assurance to stakeholders that
the Commission is effective (or is in a process of improving effectiveness); and
demonstrate the Commission and the organisation’s dedication and commitment to good
governance.

The self-assessment evaluation was concluded in January 2021, with actions arising reported to the
Commission for implementation. A plan to address these actions has been put in place.
On diversity, gender representation is satisfactory with one Commissioner out of 3 and 2 Directors
out of 4 being female; at 43% this is in line with the expectation of the Code of Practice (2016) as
recently up-dated with the “Guidelines on Gender balance, Diversity and Inclusion” that refer to the
need for state bodies to ensure they reflect the 40% gender balance requirement in their “Board”.
The Commission has established two committees, as follows:
•

Audit and Risk Committee: comprises of two Commissioners, and three external members,
one of whom is the chairperson for the committee. The role of the Audit and Risk Committee
(ARC) is to support the Commission in relation to its responsibilities of risk, control and
governance and associated assurance. As set out in the Committee Terms of Reference, the
ARC assess how the Commission is managing key financial and operational risks, evaluate
the effectiveness of internal controls, oversee the internal audit function, and monitor
implementation of Commission decisions arising from Committee recommendations. The ARC
is independent from the financial management of the organisation. The Committee ensures
that the internal control systems including audit activities are monitored actively and
independently. The ARC provides an update to the Commission after each meeting. In addition
to the ARC, the CRU Risk Management team meetings are held bi-monthly. The CRU Risk
Management team meetings are attended by the 3 Commissioners and 5 Directors, the Risk
Team (comprising of the Risk Officer and a Risk Coordinator), and 2 other members of
management. The role of the Risk Management team is to review and approve the risk
management framework and review and update the CRU risk register at each meeting and
then report to the ARC.
The ARC members at the end of December 2020 were:
Chairperson:
Members:

Tony Weldon (external)
Dr. Tom Ward (external),
Majella Kelleher (external),
Paul McGowan, CRU Commissioner,
Jim Gannon, CRU Commissioner.

The secretary of the Committee is a staff member of the CRU, and the Senior Finance and
Governance Manager also attends all meetings of the Committee.
During 2020, the Audit and Risk Committee met on four occasions. The Committee places significant
importance on reports and assurance on governance matters such as internal controls, risk
management and internal audit reports / findings. The Committee’s key activities during the year
included:
• Scrutiny and endorsement of internal audit reports for Commission approval, as follows:
o System of Internal Financial Controls;
o Review of the Safety Assurance Framework Remit;
o Follow-up Review;
o Risk Management Framework;
o Oversight of Safety Supervisory Bodies; and
o Internal Audit Annual Report.
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•
•
•
•
•
•

Input to the development and approval of CRU’s Internal Audit Plan for the period 2020 to
2023 including oversight of its implementation;
Review the Audit Tracker Report at each meeting to monitor CRU managements progress on
implementation of audit findings;
Met with the Deputy Director from the Office of the Comptroller and Auditor General to discuss
the Financial Audit and Management Letter for 2019;
Reviewed the effectiveness of the Committee as prescribed in the Code of Practice for the
Governance of State Bodies (2016);
Liaised regularly with management in relation to the conduct of risk management, discuss key
risks and mitigation work within the CRU; and
Developing knowledge of areas of priority within the CRU by receiving regular briefings from
members of the CRU senior management team.
Finance and Governance Committee: comprises the CRU Chairperson, the Director of
Operations and Organisational Development, the Senior Manager – Finance and Governance
and the Data Protection Officer (attends meetings quarterly). The role of the Finance and
Governance Committee (FGC) is to support the Commission in meeting legal and statutory
requirements, as well as adopting good practice in governance and finance matters. The
current members of this internal CRU advisory committee are: Aoife MacEvilly (Chairperson),
Loretta Lambkin, Breda Coss and Siobhan Keating. There were 11 meetings of the FGC in
2020.

Schedule of Attendance:
A schedule of attendance at the Commission and ARC meetings for 2020 is set out below including
the fees received by external committee members:
Title
Paul McGowan
Chairperson
Aoife MacEvilly
Commissioner
Jim Gannon
Commissioner
Tony Weldon
External Member
Dr. Tom Ward
External Member
Majella Kelleher
External Member
Total Number of Meetings in Year

Name

Commission
39
54
53

56

Audit & Risk Committee
3
3
4
4
4
4

Fees 2020 €

€5,400
€3,300

One external committee member of the ARC, Dr. Tom Ward, appointed on 1 December 2017 for a three-year term, does not receive
a fee under the One Person One Salary (OPOS) principle.

SEM Committee: The Electricity Regulation (Amendment) (Single Electricity Market) Act 2007 came
into effect in 2007 and provided for the establishment and operation of a single competitive wholesale
electricity market on the island of Ireland. This Act also required the establishment of Single Electricity
Market (SEM) oversight structure in the form of a SEM Committee. A Memorandum of Understanding
was signed between the Northern Ireland Utility Regulator (“UR”) and the CRU on 5 December 2006.
The SEM Committee was established and consists of three CRU and three UR representatives along
with an independent member and a deputy independent member. Under the SEM Act, the SEM
Committee is responsible for any decision as to the exercise of a relevant function of the CRU
Commission in relation to a SEM matter. The Act defines a SEM matter as a matter that materially
affects or is materially likely to affect the Single Electricity Market.
The members of the SEM Committee as at 31 December 2020 are Aoife MacEvilly, Paul McGowan,
Jim Gannon (Chair), Bill Emery, John French, Jon Carlton, Odd Hakon Hoelsaeter, Professor David
Newbery. There were 13 meetings of the SEM Committee in 2020.
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Key Personnel changes
The key personnel changes impacting the Commission and the Senior Management Team in the 2020
financial year are outlined below:
•
•
•
•

Members of the Commission: Chairperson appointment changed on 29.02.2020, moved from
Paul McGowan to Aoife MacEvilly
Laura Brien, Director of Water and Compliance resigned on 30.11.2020 (current vacancy)
Ann McGarry, Director of Energy Safety and Customer Affairs retired on 11.12.2020
Phil Hemmingway, Director of Energy Safety joined on 01.12.2020

Disclosures Required by Code of Practice for the Governance of State Bodies (2016)
The Commission is responsible for ensuring that CRU has complied with the requirements of the Code
of Practice for Governance of State Bodies (“the Code”), as published by the Department of Public
Expenditure and Reform in 2016. The following disclosures are required by the Code, with a reference
to the relevant disclosure note in the 2020 CRU Financial Statements;
Disclosure
Employee Short-Term Benefits Breakdown
Consultancy Costs
Legal Costs and Settlements
Travel and Subsistence Expenditure
Hospitality Expenditure

Notes to the Financial Statements
Note 3 (c)
Note 5 (a)
Note 5 (a) & (b)
Note 3 (a)
Note 4

Statement of Compliance
We wish to state that the CRU continues and will continue to adopt best practice in the area of
corporate governance in carrying out its functions and duties. In this regard, the Commission has
adopted the Code of Practice for Governance of State Bodies (2016) and has put procedures in place
to ensure compliance with the Code. The CRU was in compliance with the Code of Practice for the
Governance of State Bodies for 2020, with the following exception:
CRU do not operate under a Board structure and as a result some of the provisions laid out in the
Code are not deemed by CRU to be applicable, as agreed with DECC. In accordance with the “comply
or explain principle” as set out in the Code, CRU agreed an approach in December 2017 with the
Department to provide detail of its level of compliance with the provisions of the Code to the greatest
extent that its organisational structure allows. The CRU will report compliance with the Code through
submitting an agreed governance checklist to the Department annually.
Ethics in Public Office
We hereby confirm that we are not directly engaged in, concerned in or interested in any electricity
generating business or in any electricity or natural gas transmission, distribution or supply business or
in any energy business, whether as participator, investor, consultant or otherwise. In addition, in
respect of the period covered by this report, there are no registerable interests, as specified in the
Ethics in Public Office Acts 1995 and 2001 and the Gas (Interim) (Regulation) Act, 2002, of our own,
or, to our actual knowledge, of a spouse or child, which could materially influence us in, or in relation
to, the performance of the functions of our position.

On behalf of the Commission

Aoife MacEvilly, Chairperson

Date: 13th May 2021
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Statement on Internal Control
Scope of Responsibility
On behalf of the Commission for Regulation of Utilities (CRU) I acknowledge the Commission’s
responsibility for ensuring that an effective system of internal control is maintained and operated. This
responsibility takes account of the requirements of the Code of Practice for the Governance of State
Bodies (2016).
Purpose of the System of Internal Control
The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a tolerable level rather than to eliminate
it. The system can therefore provide only reasonable and not absolute assurance that assets are
safeguarded, transactions authorised and properly recorded, and that material errors or irregularities
are either prevented or detected in a timely way.
The system of internal control, which accords with guidance issued by the Department of Public
Expenditure and Reform has been in place in the CRU for the year ended 31 December 2020 and up
to the date of approval of the financial statements.
Capacity to Handle Risk
CRU has an Audit and Risk Committee (ARC) comprising two Commissioners and three external
members, with financial, governance, risk and audit expertise, one of whom is the Chair. The ARC
met four times in 2020.
CRU has also established an internal audit function, outsourced to a company with the requisite
experience, which is adequately resourced and conducts a programme of work agreed with the ARC.
In 2020, the internal auditors concluded 5 reviews which were presented to the ARC at their meetings.
The CRU in consultation with the ARC has developed a risk management policy which sets out its risk
appetite, the risk management processes in place and details the roles and responsibilities of staff in
relation to risk. The policy has been issued to all staff who are expected to work within CRU’s risk
management policies, to alert management on emerging risks and control weaknesses and assume
responsibility for risks and controls within their own area of work.
Risk and Control Framework
CRU has implemented a risk management system which identifies and reports key risks and the
management actions being taken to address and, to the extent possible, to mitigate those risks.
A risk register is in place which identifies the key risks facing CRU and these have been identified,
evaluated and graded according to their significance. The register is reviewed and updated by the
CRU Risk Management Team on a bi-monthly basis. The outcome of these assessments is used to
plan and allocate resources to ensure risks are managed to an acceptable level. The ARC keeps
under review the effectiveness of the Commission’s internal controls and risk management systems
and reports from the Risk Management Team in relation to the risk register. A scrutiny and review of
the risk register is a standing agenda item for each ARC meeting held on a quarterly basis, focusing
on key risks. As part of its oversight role, the ARC periodically reviews the Commission’s Risk
Management Framework which includes the Risk Appetite statement and provides observations and
recommendations to the Commission if required.
The risk register details the controls and actions needed to mitigate risks and responsibility for
operation of controls assigned to specific staff. I confirm that a control environment containing the
following elements is in place:
• procedures for all key business processes have been documented,
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•
•
•
•

financial responsibilities have been assigned at management level with corresponding
accountability,
there is an appropriate budgeting system with an annual budget which is kept under review by
senior management,
there are systems aimed at ensuring the security of the information and communication
technology systems, and
there are systems in place to safeguard the assets.

Ongoing Monitoring and Review
Formal procedures have been established for monitoring control processes and control deficiencies
are communicated to those responsible for taking corrective action and to management and the
Commission, where relevant, in a timely way. I confirm that the following ongoing monitoring systems
are in place:
• key risks and related controls have been identified and processes have been put in place to
monitor the operation of those key controls and report any identified deficiencies,
• reporting arrangements have been established at all levels where responsibility for financial
management has been assigned, and
• there are regular reviews by senior management of periodic and annual performance and
financial reports which indicate performance against budgets / forecasts.
Impact of Covid-19 on the control environment
A Sub-Committee of the Business Continuity Planning function was established early in 2020 to
oversee how the CRU dealt with the challenges of maintaining an effective system of internal control
in light of the change in work practices as a result of Covid-19. A Covid-19 over-arching risk
assessment was completed for consideration by the CRU Risk Management Team (RMT). The RMT
reviewed the risk profile and mitigations and determined the Covid-19 corporate level of risk at a rating
of “Modest”. Ongoing monitoring of the risk assessment occurred throughout the year by the RMT.
The key Control Measures are summarised as follows:
• Business Continuity Group established to oversee support for staff working at home and
implementation of a Return to Office plan.
• Updates to Business Continuity Plan implemented and continuously monitored.
• Retain existing financial control framework, with modifications made for remote working i.e.
use of secure VPN to access systems remotely & securely, use of e-signatures tool for
authorisations and approvals, additional compliance checks for supplier set-ups / amendments
as a fraud preventive measure. (Monitored by Finance and Governance Committee).
• Publication of Guidance to Return to the Office in line with public health guidelines.
• HR providing supports for staff and organisational resilience, performance while working
remotely and dealing with competing priorities (notably caring responsibilities).
• Risk Assessments for inspections and office have been completed.
• The Commission/Directors discuss updates in relation to the Government’s Plan for Living with
Covid-19 and current arrangements for CRU staff at the weekly Commission meetings.
• Annual work plan reviewed and expanded to include priority work to support the public, utility
customers and the energy and water sectors in light of Covid-19.
• The ARC regularly engage with management in relation to the conduct of risk management,
discuss key risks and mitigation work regarding the impact of Covid-19.
The CRU have provided the necessary infrastructure to all staff to work securely from home, including
secure connections to the CRU’s network. IT provided User Guides / Help-Desk Support arrangements
re use of VPN & Microsoft Teams with regular updates. Monitoring controls continue to operate as
normal and remote devices are subjected to the same monitoring as devices based within the office.
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To date, mitigation measures have been effective with no impact on staff availability / operations.
Procurement
I confirm that CRU has procedures in place to ensure compliance with current procurement rules and
guidelines and that during 2020 CRU complied with those procedures.
Review of Effectiveness
I confirm that CRU has procedures to monitor the effectiveness of its risk management and control
procedures. CRU’s monitoring and review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is
informed by the work of the internal and external auditors, the Audit and Risk Committee which
oversees the work of internal audit, and the senior management within CRU responsible for the
development and maintenance of the internal control framework.
I confirm that the Commission conducted an annual review of the effectiveness of the internal controls
for 2020.
Internal Control Issues
No significant weaknesses in internal financial control were identified in relation to 2020 that require
disclosure in the financial statements.
An internal audit review of the framework of controls in place for the oversight of the Safety Supervisory
Bodies by CRU has resulted in two high priority recommendations being made to the Commission.
The recommendations relate to the governance, risk management and controls over the CRU’s
procedures and policies for the oversight of these bodies. The recommendations have been accepted
by the Commission. While this was already an area of strong focus for the Commission the
recommendations have resulted in a renewed programme of activity for improvement in the CRU’s
performance in this area. A high priority has been assigned to the completion of this programme.

On behalf of the Commission

Aoife MacEvilly, Chairperson

Date: 13th May 2021
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Statement of Income and Expenditure and Retained Revenue Reserves
For the year ended 31 December 2020
Notes

2020
Electricity

2020
LPG

2020
Gas

2020
Petroleum

2020
Water

2020
Total

€'000

€'000

€'000

€'000

€'000

€'000

2019
Total
Re-stated
€'000

9,921
30
0
9,951

27
0
0
27

4,389
15
0
4,404

1,390
0
238
1,628

2,699
0
0
2,699

18,426
45
238
18,709

14,955
69
202
15,226

4,007
977
395
391
35
38
107
2,915
681
36
52
122
9,756

33
16
0
0
0
0
0
5
0
0
0
0
54

2,385
525
219
165
22
21
29
400
0
20
33
79
3,898

633
160
54
40
10
6
7
266
0
4
8
9
1,197

1,378
319
126
92
11
12
17
356
0
10
16
20
2,357

8,436
1,997
794
688
78
77
160
3,942
681
70
109
230
17,262

7,632
1,763
875
567
73
70
51
3,938
364
55
122
208
15,718

195

( 27)

506

431

342

1,447

( 492)

( 100)

0

( 67)

( 6)

( 12)

( 185)

12

295

( 27)

573

437

354

1,632

( 504)

3,022
175

20
7

790
54

598
23

1,091
34

5,521
293

5,786
239

3,492

0

1,417

1,058

1,479

7,446

5,521

Income
Levy
Licensing Fees
Other Income

2

2

Gross Income

Expenditure
Remuneration and Other Pay
Retirement Benefit Costs
Office Accommodation Expenses
IT & Communications
Office Service Costs
Insurance Premiums
Advertising and R&D Costs
Professional & Consultancy Fees
Judicial Review Costs
Audit Fees
Other Expenses
Depreciation
Total Expenditure

3
12 (a)

5 (a)
5 (b)
5 (c)

Surplus / (Deficit) for the year
before capital transfer
Transfer from / (to) capital account

11

Surplus / (Deficit) for the year after
capital transfer
Surplus brought forward at 1 January
Retirement Benefit Cost Reserve
Operating Surplus / (Deficit) at 31
December

All income and expenditure for the year relates to continuing activities at the reporting date.
The Statement of Cash Flows and Notes 1 to 16 form part of these Financial Statements.

On behalf of the Commission

Aoife MacEvilly, Chairperson

Date: 13th May 2021
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Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 December 2020
2020

2020

2019

Re-stated
Notes

Sub-Totals

Total

Total

€’000

€’000

€’000

1,632

( 504)

1,740

3,058

( 4,326)
( 2,586)

( 3,994)
( 936)

Surplus / (Deficit) for the year
Main Scheme
Return on plan assets greater / (less) than discount rate
Experience (gains) / loss
Change in assumptions
Actuarial (loss) / gain the the year

12 (biii)
12 (bii)

484
( 4,810)

Experience (gains) / loss

12 (bii)

( 16)

( 8)

Change in assumptions
Adjustment to deferred funding
Actuarial (loss) / gain the the year

12 (bii)

518
( 502)
0

317
( 309)
0

( 954)

( 1,440)

12 (bii)

SPSPS Scheme

12 (bii)

Total Comprehensive Income / (Deficit) for the year

The Statement of Cash Flows and Notes 1 to 16 form part of these Financial Statements.

On behalf of the Commission

Aoife MacEvilly, Chairperson

Date: 13th May 2021
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Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 December 2020
Notes

2020

2019

Re-stated
€'000

€'000

6

1,580

1,765

7

327

572

10,392

6,890

10,719

7,462

( 2,597)

( 1,941)

8,122

5,521

( 676)

( 0)

Fixed Assets
Property, plant and equipment

Current Assets
Receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

Current Liabilities
(Amounts falling due within one year)
Payables

8

Net Current Assets
Long Term Liabilities
Provision for Liabilities and charges

9

Retirement Benefits
Net Pension liability (funded scheme)
Deferred funded asset

12 (bi)

( 14,052)

( 11,173)

12 (bi)

3,337

2,032

Pension Liability SPS

12 (bi)

( 3,337)

( 2,032)

( 5,026)

( 3,887)

1,580

1,765

Total Net Assets / Liabilities
Financed by
Capital Account
Retained Revenue Reserves
Pension Reserve

11
13(b)

7,446

5,521

13(a)

( 14,052)
( 5,026)

( 11,173)
( 3,887)

The Statement of Cash Flows and Notes 1 to 16 form part of these Financial Statements.
On behalf of the Commission

Aoife MacEvilly, Chairperson

Date: 13th May 2021
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Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 December 2020
2020

2019

Re-Stated
€’000

€’000

1,632

( 504)

230

208

245

( 258)

1,332

( 269)

( 185)

12

26

20

293
3,573

239
( 552)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Payments to acquire Property, Plant & Equipment
Net Cash Flows from Investing Activities

( 45)
( 45)

( 220)
( 220)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Bank Interest payable
Net Cash Flows from Financing Activities

( 26)
( 26)

( 20)
( 20)

3,502

( 792)

6,890
10,392

7,682
6,890

Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Excess Expenditure over Income
Depreciation and Impairment of Fixed Assets
Decrease / (Increase) in Receivables
(Decrease) / Increase in Payables
Transfer from capital account
Bank Interest
Difference between Pension Costs and Employers Contributions
Net Cash (Outflow) / Inflow from Operating Activities

Net (Decrease) / Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

1. Accounting policies
The basis of accounting and significant accounting policies adopted by the Commission, are set out
below. They have all been applied consistently throughout the year and for the preceding year.

a) Establishment of the Commission
The Commission for Electricity Regulation was initially established on 14 July 1999 under the
provisions of the Electricity Regulation Act 1999 (No. 23 of 1999). The enactment of the Gas (Interim)
(Regulation) Act 2002 expanded the Commission’s jurisdiction to include regulation of the natural gas
market on 30 April 2002. The Commission was renamed the Commission for Energy Regulation (CER)
to reflect this increased responsibility. Following the commencement of the Energy Act 2016, the CER
was required to change its name to fully incorporate all aspects of its expanded role, namely the
Commission for Regulation of Utilities (CRU).
The Minister for Environment, Climate and Communications with the agreement of the Minister of
Public Expenditure and Reform expanded the Commission to a three-member Commission on 13
October 2004, as provided under Schedule 1 of the Electricity Regulation Act 1999. Commissioner
Aoife MacEvilly was appointed as Chairperson on 29 February 2020. The other Members of the
Commission (“Commissioners”) are Jim Gannon and Paul McGowan.

b) Statement of Compliance
The financial statements of the Commission for the year ended 31 December 2020 have been
prepared in accordance with FRS 102, the financial reporting standard applicable in the UK and Ireland
issued by the Financial Reporting Council (FRC), as promulgated by Chartered Accountants Ireland.

c) Basis of Preparation
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for certain
assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value as explained in the accounting policies below. The
financial statements are in the form approved by the Minister for Communications, Climate Action and
Environment with the concurrence of the Minister for Public Expenditure and Reform under paragraph
25 of the Schedule to the Electricity Regulation Act, 1999 as amended. The following accounting
policies have been applied consistently in dealing with items which are considered material in relation
to the Commission’s financial statements.

d) Income Recognition
Electricity, Gas, LPG Safety, Petroleum Safety and Water levy income is brought to account over the
period to which it relates.
Licence income from authorisations to construct, generate and supply energy is brought to account in
the year in which the licence is issued.
Petroleum safety case fee income is brought to account in the year during which expenditure is
incurred on assessment of the safety case.
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e) Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, Plant and Equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is
calculated in order to write off property, plant and equipment on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives at the following rates:
•
•
•
•
•

Fixtures and Fittings
Office Equipment
Computer Hardware
Computer Software
Leasehold Improvement

15% per annum
15% per annum
33 1/3% per annum
50% per annum
4% per annum

f) Foreign Currencies
Transactions denominated in foreign currencies relating to revenues and costs are translated into Euro
at the rates of exchange ruling on the dates on which the transactions occurred.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Euro at the rates
of exchange at the Statement of Financial Position date.

g) Retirement Benefits
A defined-benefit pension scheme is in place for pre-2013 employees of the Commission for
Regulation of Utilities (“CER Pension Scheme”). The scheme is funded by contributions from the
Commission and employees which are transferred to a separate trustee administered fund. The
Retirement Benefit charge in the Statement of Income and Expenditure and Retained Revenue
Reserves in respect of the CER pension scheme comprises the current service cost less employer
contributions plus the difference between the interest income on scheme assets and the interest cost
of scheme liabilities.
The Commission also operates the Single Public Service Pension Scheme (“Single Scheme”) for staff
who joined the Single Scheme on or after 1 January 2013. Single Scheme members’ contributions
and an Employer contribution (as required under DPER circular 28/2016) are paid over to the
Department of Public Expenditure and Reform. The Retirement Benefit charge in respect of the SPS
Pension Scheme is the Employer contribution paid to DPER.
Actuarial gains and losses arising from changes in actuarial assumptions and from experience
surpluses and deficits are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income for the year in which
they occur.
Retirement benefit scheme assets are measured at fair value. Retirement benefit scheme liabilities
are measured on an actuarial basis using the projected unit credit method. An excess of scheme
liabilities over scheme assets is presented on the Statement of Financial Position as a liability.
The Retirement Benefit Reserve represents the funding deficit on the defined benefit pension scheme.

h) Taxation
The Commission is not liable for Corporation Tax. Provision is made for taxation on deposit interest
received. Income raised by the Commission is not subject to VAT.
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i) Capital Account
The capital account represents the unamortised value of income used for capital purposes.

j) Allocation of costs
In the discharge of the Commission’s functions under section 20 of the Petroleum (Exploration and
Extraction) Safety Act 2010, the financial statements identify separately all elements of cost and
revenue in regard to the electricity, gas and petroleum sectors. In discharge of the Commission’s
functions under the Water Services Act 2013, the financial statements identify separately all elements
of costs in regard to the water sector.
In drawing up the separate accounts of the Commission, a set of accounting procedures for the
allocation of assets, liabilities, income and expenditure is adhered to:
Revenues, expenses and capital expenditure directly incurred by each sector are recorded in the
separate accounts of the electricity, gas, LPG safety, petroleum and water sectors. Shared costs are
allocated to each sector in proportion to the staff numbers engaged in the relevant sector.

k) Receivables
Receivables are recognised at fair value, less a provision for doubtful debts. The provision for doubtful
debts is a specific provision, and is established when there is objective evidence that the Commission
will not be able to collect all amounts owed to it. All movements in the provision for doubtful debts are
recognised in the Statement of Income and Expenditure and Retained Revenue Reserves.

l) Operating Leases
Rental expenditure under operating leases is recognised in the Statement of Income and Expenditure
and Retained Revenue Reserves over the life of the lease. Expenditure is recognised on a straightline basis over the lease period, except where there are rental increases linked to the expected rate
of inflation, in which case these increases are recognised when incurred. Any lease incentives
received are recognised over the life of the lease.

m) Employee Benefits
Short-term Benefits: Short term benefits such as holiday pay are recognised as an expense in the
year, and benefits that are accrued at year-end are included in the Payables figure in the Statement
of Financial Position.

n) Critical Accounting Judgements and Estimates
The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the amounts reported for assets and liabilities as at the statement of financial
position date and the amounts reported for revenues and expenses during the year. However, the
nature of estimation means that actual outcomes could differ from those estimates. The following
judgements have had the most significant effect on amounts recognised in the financial statements.
Depreciation and Residual Values: The Members of the Commission have reviewed the asset lives
and associated residual values of all fixed asset classes, and in particular, the useful economic life
and residual values of fixtures and fittings, and have concluded that asset lives and residual values
are appropriate.
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Provisions: The Commission makes provisions for legal and constructive obligations, which it knows
to be outstanding at the period end date. These provisions are generally made based on historical or
other pertinent information, adjusted for recent trends where relevant. However, they are estimates of
the financial costs of events that may not occur for some years. As a result of this and the level of
uncertainty attaching to the final outcomes, the actual out-turn may differ significantly from that
estimated.
Impact of Covid-19 as a significant event: The Commission have evaluated whether relevant
conditions related to the Covid-19 event have impacted on the financial statements. The Commission
and senior management discuss updates in relation to the Government’s Plan for Living with Covid19 and current arrangements for CRU staff at the weekly Commission meetings and bi-monthly Risk
Team Meetings. All employees are working remotely with the CRU operations and activities fully
maintained. There has been no impact on income. Considered in the aggregate, this evaluation
indicates that it is probable that the CRU will be able to meet its obligations as they become due within
one year after the date that the financial statements are issued.

2.

Income

Levy Income: For the purpose of meeting its expenses under the Electricity Regulation Act, 1999 as
amended, the Commission may impose a levy on the relevant energy, safety, petroleum extraction
and exploration undertakings and Irish Water. The Commission imposed a levy on the relevant energy
undertakings for each activity of transmission, distribution, generation, supply or shipping that is
carried out in Ireland as outlined overleaf.
Other Income: The Petroleum Safety Framework is funded in two ways, an annual industry levy and
safety case assessment fees. The safety case fees cover the costs associated with assessment of a
safety case. The petroleum undertaking that submits the safety case for assessment is liable for the
associated safety case fee.
2020

2020

Electricity LPG Safety

2020

2020

2020

2020

2019

Gas

Petroleum

Water

Total

Total

€'000

€'000

€'000

€'000

€'000

€'000

€'000

Generation

2,859

0

0

0

0

2,859

1,771

Transmission

2,354

0

1,463

0

0

3,817

3,234

Distribution

2,448

0

1,463

0

0

3,911

3,310

Supply

2,260

0

0

0

0

2,260

1,727

Shipping

0

0

1,463

0

0

1,463

1,344

Other Levies

0

27

0

1,390

2,699

4,116

3,569

9,921

27

4,389

1,390

2,699

18,426

14,955

0

0

0

238

0

238

202

0

0

0

238

0

238

202

Other Income
Safety Case Fees
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3. Remuneration and Other Employee Costs
(a) Remuneration and other employee costs during the year:
2020
Electricity

Staff Salaries
Employer PRSI
SEM Committee Fees
Recruitment and Training
Staff Travel and Subsistence

2020
LPG Safety

2020

2020

2020

2020

2019

Gas Petroleum

Water

Total

Total

€'000

€'000

€'000

€'000

€'000

€'000

€'000

3,495

30

2,076

535

1,206

7,342

6,451

339

3

214

61

124

741

648

32

0

0

0

0

32

56

131

0

85

31

44

291

272

10

0

10

6

4

30

205

4,007

33

2,385

633

1,378

8,436

7,632

1

29

7

17

109

102

The average number of employees during the year,
analysed by sector was as follows

55

The Commission operate a performance related remuneration scheme which was approved by the
Department of Public Expenditure and Reform and the Department of Communications, Climate
Action and Environment. Of the total salary costs during 2020 €227,793 (2019 €215,706) represents
the payments to staff associated with the provisions of the performance related remuneration scheme
and the terms of their contracts of employment. The Chairperson, Members of the Commission and
the Directors do not receive any performance related payments. Staff salaries include the cost of
accrued holiday pay earned by employees but not availed of at the reporting date.
(b) Travel and Subsistence

It is the policy of the Commission to reimburse staff when expenses are necessarily incurred in the
performance of the Commission’s business. Staff travel and subsistence reimbursement claims must
be clearly presented, fully vouched and properly authorised. The totals for 2020 comprise of €9,535
(2019 €98,859) for foreign travel, €20,212 (2019 €106,192) for domestic travel.
(c) Employee Benefits Breakdown

Employees’ gross pay in excess of €60,000 are categorised into the following bands:
Range of total employee benefits
From

To

€60,000
€70,000

Number of Employees
2020

2019

- €69,999
- €79,999

10
5

10
8

€80,000
€90,000

- €89,999
- €99,999

12
10

3
5

€100,000
€110,000
€120,000
€130,000
€140,000
€150,000
€160,000
€170,000
€180,000

-

2
1
0
0
2
1
5
0
1

5
1
0
1
1
3
0
0
1

€109,999
€119,999
€129,999
€139,999
€149,999
€159,999
€169,999
€179,999
€189,999
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3.

Remuneration and Other Employee Costs (continued)

(d) Commissioners Remuneration

The Commissioners’ remuneration package for 2020 was made up as follows:
Salary Costs

Aoife MacEvilly - Chairperson
Paul McGowan - Commissioner
Jim Gannon - Commissioner (appointed 07.10.2019)
Garrett Blaney - Commissioner (resigned 04.01.2019)

2020
€’000
183

2019
€’000
157

169

181

165

39

0

7

517

384

This does not include the value of retirement benefits earned in the period. The Commissioners
pension entitlements do not extend beyond the standard entitlements in the model public sector
defined benefit superannuation scheme.
(e) Key management personnel

Key management personnel in CRU consists of the Commissioners, who are assisted in their duties
by five Directors. The total value of employee benefits for the Commissioners and Directors is set out
below:
Aggregate Salary & Short-Term Benefits *
Allowances

2020
€’000
1,266
20
1,286

2019
€’000
995
20
1,015

* Number of Directors increased from four to five on 03.10.2019

This does not include the value of retirement benefits earned in the period. The key management
personnel are members of the CER Pension Scheme and Single Scheme, and their entitlements in
that regard do not extend beyond the terms of the model public service pension scheme.
(f) Public Service Pay and Pensions Act, 2017

On 1 January 2019, the Additional Superannuation Contribution (ASC) was introduced, replacing the
Pension Related Deduction (PRD) previously in force. During 2020 €241,728 (2019 €244,156)
additional superannuation contributions were made by staff from CRU. With respect to the Single
Public Service Pension Scheme (SPSPS) members an amount of €83,897 ASC was paid to DECC
(the Exchequer) in 2020.
In November 2018, the Chairperson of the CRU issued a request for clarification on the treatment of
the ASC to DECC whereby it was requested that, in line with similarly funded superannuation
schemes, the ASC deducted in respect of CER Scheme active members be “paid into a trust fund
established” for the CER Scheme under the Electricity Regulation Act, 1999 with effect from 1 January
2019. On the 19th of March 2021, the Minister for Public Expenditure and Reform, in accordance with
Section 39 of the Public Service Pay and Pension Act 2017, has directed that the ASC receipts in
respect of those employees of the CRU who are members of the CER Superannuation Scheme may
be retained by the CRU and disposed of as a contribution to the CRU’s funded defined benefit pension
scheme. The ASC made by CER scheme active members for 2019 and 2020 in the amount of
€401,987, accrued as a payables liability at the year-end, to be remitted to the CER Superannuation
Scheme in March 2021.
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3.

Remuneration and Other Employee Costs (continued)

(g) Restatement of prior year amounts

As disclosures in the financial statements for the year ending 31 December 2019 were completed on
the basis that the employer contribution due to the Scheme was inclusive of the ASC, the prior year
disclosures have been restated to reflect the approval of DPER, as stated in Note 3(f), to allocate ASC
in respect of active members of the Scheme. This has resulted in a reduced Retirement Benefits
expenditure charge for both 2019 and 2020 due to the higher employee contribution now payable to
the Scheme assets.
Summary of the prior year accounting impact

Restated

Payables

Prior Year

€

( 1,941)

( 2,130)

189

Net Pension liability (funded scheme)
Retained Revenue Reserves (Retirement Benefits Costs)

( 11,173)
5,521

( 11,185)
5,332

12
189

Pension Reserve

( 11,173)

( 11,185)

12

2020
€’000
6

2019
€’000

4.

Hospitality Expenditure

Hospitality expenditure in 2020 amounted to €5,656; analysed as follows-

Staff Hospitality
Client Hospitality

0

4
0

6

4

The hospitality expenditure disclosed above is classified in accordance with the Code of Practice for
Governance of State Bodies (2016). The CRU does not engage in Client Hospitality. The above
amounts do not include expenditure on refreshments / hospitality associated with business operations
such as conferences hosting, events and meetings.
5.

Professional Fees

The Commission procures professional and legal services in respect of economic, technical, and legal
disciplines including litigation fees, usually on a fixed fee basis, for a defined period of time to perform
specific self-contained tasks or projects that contribute to decision-making and policy-making in the
CRU. During 2020, the Commission incurred costs for each activity of electricity, gas, safety regulation
(includes petroleum safety) and water regulation per key professional services category as follows;
(a) Professional Fees Category
Electricity Gas/LPG
* Technical: Consultancy
* Technical: Safety Consultancy
* Economic/ Financial : Consultancy
Multiple Member Framework Agreement for I-SEM
* Professional incl. Market Research
* General Legal Advices

Petroleum

Water

2020

2019

€'000
1,547

€'000
32

€'000
0

€'000
64

€'000
1,643

€'000
809

26
748
129
343
122

212
0
0
140
21

242
0
0
20
4

0
209
0
64
19

480
957
129
567
166

686
993
453
545
452

2,915

405

266

356

3,942

3,938

* As per guidance in the Code of Practice for the Governance of State Bodies (2016), these headings can be classified as "business as usual".

26
CRU Annual Report 2020

CRU Financial Statements 2020
5.

Professional Fees (continued)
Electricity Gas/LPG

(b) Judicial Review Litigation Fees & Provision
Legal Fees - legal proceedings
Judicial Review Provision
Concilliation, Mediation & Arbitration
Settlements

Petroleum

Water

2020

2019

€'000

€'000

€'000

€'000

€'000

€'000

5
676
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

5
676
0

568
( 234)
30

0

0

0

0

0

0

681

0

0

0

681

364

* Refer to Note 9: Release of the Judicial Review Provision

(c) Audit Fees

Audit Fees to the Office of the Comptroller and Auditor General
Internal Audit Fees

6.

2020
€’000
22

2019
€’000
20

48

35

70

55

Property, Plant and Equipment
Leasehold

Fixtures

Office

Computer

Computer

Total

Improvement

& Fittings

Equipment

Hardware

Software

€'000

€'000

€'000

€'000

€'000

€'000

2,961
0
0
2,961

649
0
0
649

307
2
0
309

831
43
( 1)
873

368
0
0
368

5,116
45
( 1)
5,160

1,568
119
0
1,687

452
34
0
486

261
12
0
273

702
65
( 1)
766

368
0
0
368

3,351
230
( 1)
3,580

At 31 December 2020

1,274

163

36

107

0

1,580

At 31 December 2019

1,393

197

46

129

0

1,765

Cost:
At 31 December 2019
Additions
Disposals
At 31 December 2020

Accumulated Depreciation:
At 31 December 2019
Charge for the year
Disposals
At 31 December 2020

Net Book Value:

7.

Receivables

Levy / Fees – Electricity
Levy / Fees - Gas
Payroll
Other
Prepayments

2020
€’000
(24)

2019
€’000
127

(8)

11

56

52

11

11

292

371

327

572
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8.

Payables

Trade Creditors
Accrual: Consultancy and Professional Fees
Accrual: Legal services
Accrual: Other Creditors
VAT Payable
PAYE / PRSI
Payroll including Accrued Holiday Pay
Additional Superannuation Contribution
Professional Services Withholding Tax
Deferred Income: Petroleum Safety Levy

9.

2020

2019 (Re-stated)

€'000
( 6)

€'000
( 2)

1,223

769

74

108

72

102

50

78

372

339

265

259

401

245

66

43

80

0

2,597

1,941

2020

2019

€'000

€'000

0

234

676

(234)

676

0

Provision for Liabilities – Judicial Review

Opening Balance
Provided for / (Utilised) in the Year

Provisions represents a prudent estimate of liabilities that may arise to third parties, in respect of legal
actions notified prior to year-end. Due to the nature of its operations the Commission is involved in
legal actions, principally judicial review proceedings on its decisions. The provision is based on an
assessment of the probable costs of defending known actions to the extent that such costs can be
reliably estimated. The assumptions made is assessing the appropriate level of provision include the
likely outcome of the actions, future trend of legal costs (both our own and third party) and the
estimated date the action will be heard. The Commission is satisfied that it has made the best estimate
of the appropriate provision in the financial statements for the likely outcome, the provision may be
subject to revision from time to time as more information becomes available.
10.

Contingent Liability

Legal Actions: As stated in Note 9 the Commission is, from time to time, party to various legal actions.
The Commission makes a provision for expected legal costs associated with cases notified to it (Note
9). It is probable that a number of additional cases may be notified in the future in relation to decisions
made prior to 31 December 2020. It is not possible to estimate the potential effect of such claims.
11.

Capital Account
2020

2020

2020

2020

2020

Electricity

Gas

Petroleum

Water

Total

€'000

€'000

€'000

€'000

€'000

Opening balance

1,393

197

46

129

1,765

Funds allocated to acquire fixed assets
Amount amortised in line with asset depreciation

22
( 122)

12
( 79)

3
( 9)

8
( 20)

45
( 230)

Net amount of transfer

( 100)
1,293

( 67)
130

( 6)
40

( 12)
117

( 185)
1,580
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12.

a)

Retirement Benefit Costs
2020

2019 (Re-stated)

€'000

€'000

1,800

1,580

Analysis of total retirement benefit costs charged to the Statement
of Income and Expenditure and Retained Revenue Reserves.
CER defined benefit scheme
Current service cost
Interest Cost

500

662

Expected return on Scheme Assets

( 371)

( 483)

Less: Employees Contributions

( 399)

( 361)

Total

1,530

1,398

803

505

Single Public Service Pension Scheme
Net Current Service Cost
Deferred retirement benefit funding

( 803)

( 505)

Employer contribution

467

365

Total

467

365

Employee contributions by SPSPS members amounted to €155,733 (€115,467 in 2019) and were remitted to the
Department of Public Expenditure and Reform. The total retirement benefit costs for the two schemes in 2020
amounted to €2,053,000 (2019 €1,841,000).

bi)

Net Retirement Benefit Liability
Present value of Funded Scheme obligation
Fair value of Funded Scheme Asset
Net Funded Scheme
SPSPS Liability
SPSPS Deferred Funding Asset

bii)

Present Value of Total Obligations (Funded and
SPSPS) at 1 January
Current Service Cost
Interest Cost
Actuarial Loss / (Gain)
Benefits Paid
Present Value of Total Obligations (Funded and
SPSPS) at 31 December

46,431

40,097

( 32,379)

( 28,924)

14,052

11,173

3,337

2,032

( 3,337)

( 2,032)

0

0

Funded

SPSPS

Total

40,097

2,032

42,129

35,263

1,800

778

2,578

2,069

500

25

525

686

4,326

502

4,828

4,303

( 292)

0

( 292)

( 192)

46,431

3,337

49,768

42,129

28,924

24,041

biii) Change in Scheme assets
Fair Value of Scheme Assets at beginning of year
Expected return on Scheme Assets

371

483

Actuarial Gain / (Loss)

1,740

3,058

Employer Contributions

1,237

1,165

Members' Contributions

399

361

Benefits paid from Scheme
Fair Value of Scheme Assets at end of year

( 292)

( 184)

32,379

28,924

The current practice of increasing pensions in line with public sector salary inflation is taken into
account in measuring the defined benefit obligation.
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12.
c)

Retirement Benefit Costs (continued)
Description of Scheme and Actuarial Assumptions

The retirement benefit scheme is a defined benefit final salary pension arrangement with benefits
defined by reference to current “model” public sector scheme regulations (in respect of members
appointed prior to 1 January 2013) and by reference to the Single Public Service Pension Scheme (in
respect of members appointed from 1 January 2013). Employer and employee contribution rates are
set having regard to actuarial advice and periodic review on the funding rate required for the scheme.
The valuation used for FRS102 disclosures has been based on an actuarial valuation performed on
31st January 2021 by a qualified independent actuary, taking account of the requirements of the FRS
in order to assess the scheme liabilities at 31st December 2020.
The principal actuarial assumptions were as follows:
Discount Rate
Price Inflation
Rate of salary increase
Pension increases for in-payment benefits
Pension increase for deferred benefits
Plan participant census date

The scheme assets at the year-end comprised:
Equity Securities
Debt Securities
Real Estate / Property
Secure Income Assets
Cash

2020
0.85%
1.50%
2.75%
2.25%
2.25%
31-Dec-20

2019
1.25%
1.80%
2.75%
2.25%
2.25%
31-Dec-19

2020

2019

20.7%
32.1%
2.3%
42.1%
2.8%
100%

16.1%
27.9%
8.5%
43.1%
4.4%
100%

In developing the expected long-term rate of return on assets assumption, the Commission considered
the current level of expected returns on risk free investments, the historical level of the risk premium
associated with the other asset classes in which the portfolio is invested and the expectations for future
returns of each asset class. The expected return for each asset class is then weighted based on the
actual asset allocation to develop the expected long-term rate of return on assets assumption for the
portfolio.

Defined benefit obligations
Fair vale of Scheme Asets
Surplus/ (Deficit) for funded scheme
Return on plan assets greater/(less) than discount rate
d)

2020
2019
2018
€'000
€'000
€'000
49,768 42,129 35,263
35,716 30,956 25,259
( 14,052) ( 11,173) ( 10,004)
2,242
3,367 ( 1,168)

2017
2016
€'000
€'000
33,310 31,822
24,371 21,381
( 8,939) ( 10,441)
1,124
685

2015
€'000
22,934
18,842
( 4,092)
10

2014
€'000
21,645
17,523
( 4,122)
1,430

Funding of Retirement Benefits

The Commission expects to contribute €1,990,000 to its retirement benefit schemes in 2021.
e)

Prior pensionable service

The assets and liabilities of the retirement benefit schemes relate to retirement benefits arising from
service with the Commission. Two Commission members and six staff members have superannuation
entitlements arising from service with other public-sector bodies prior to their joining the Commission.
The Commission is entitled to recover the cost of funding the prior service from other public bodies
under the terms of its membership of the Public Service Transfer Network.
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12.
f)

Retirement Benefit Costs (continued)
Single Public-Sector Pension Scheme

The total retirement benefit liability of €49,557,000 includes €3,337,000 in respect of members of the
SPSPS. The assets as at 31 December 2020 include an asset in respect of deferred funding towards
the unfunded liabilities under the Single Scheme. The value of this asset amounts to €3,337,000 as at
31 December 2020 (€2,032,000 as at 31 December 2019).
The Minister for Public Expenditure and Reform, based on actuarial considerations and pursuant to
Section 16 (4) of the Public Service Pension (Single Scheme and Other Provisions) Act 2012 has
decided that: an employer contribution is to be paid in respect of certain members of the Single Public
Sector Pension Scheme and the rate of that Employer contribution is equal to three times the
employee contribution paid by the single scheme member.
As a self-financing body, the sum of €622,933 (2019: €480,189); Employer contribution of €467,200
(2019: €364,721); Employee contribution of €155,733 (2019: €115,468) represents the amount paid
to Department of Public Expenditure and Reform in 2020.
13 (a)

Reconciliation of movements in Reserves

Income & Expenditure Account
Electricity LPG
Gas Petroleum
€’000

Opening Balance at 1 January (re-stated)
Surplus/(Deficit) for the Financial Year

€’000

€’000

€’000

Pension
Reserve

Total

Water

Capital
Account

€’000

€’000

€’000

€’000

3,022

20

790

598

1,091

295

( 27)

573

437

354

Net Movement in Capital

1,765 ( 11,173)

1,632
( 185)

Actuarial Gain/ (Loss)
Movement in Reserve
Closing Balance at 31 December

175
3,492

7

54

23

34

0 1,417

1,058

1,479

( 3,887)

( 185)
( 2,586)

( 2,586)

( 293)

0

1,580 ( 14,052)

( 5,026)

0

The retirement benefit reserve represents the cumulative cost of retirement benefits less amounts
contributed by the employer. The transfer in the year represents the difference between the full cost of
retirement benefits recognised in the Income and Expenditure and Retained Revenue Reserves Account
in the year of €1,997,000 and the employer contributions of €1,704,000. The full cost of the retirement
benefits in respect of the funded scheme €1,530,000 and the employer contribution of €1,237,000.

13 (b) Accumulated Surplus / Deficit for the year
In accordance with Paragraph 20 of the Schedule to the Electricity Regulation Act, 1999 as amended
the Commission is required to apply any excess of revenue over expenditure in any year to meet its
expenses. Accordingly, the accumulated surplus attributed to the electricity sector of €3.5 million, the
gas sector of €1.4 million and the water and waste water sector of €1.5 million was taken into account
in determining the levy orders for 2021. The petroleum levy surplus of €1.0 million for 2020 was taken
into account in determining the levy order for 2021.
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14.

Related Party Disclosures

Key management personnel in the CRU consist of the three Commission Members – the Chairperson
and Commissioners supported by five Directors. For a breakdown of the remuneration and benefits
paid to key management personnel, please refer to Note 3.
The Commission adopted procedures in accordance with the Code of Practice for the Governance of
State Bodies issued by the Department of Public Expenditure and Reform in relation to the disclosure
of interests by the Members of the Commission and these procedures have been adhered to in the
year. There were no transactions in the year in relation to the Commission’s activities in which the
Members of the Commission had any beneficial interest.

15.

Commitments – Capital and Others
15.1 Capital Commitments:
The Commission had neither contracted for nor authorised any capital expenditure at the
statement of financial position date.
15.2 Operating Leases
As at 31 December 2020 the Commission had the following future minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable operating leases for each of the following periods:
2020
€

2019
€

Payable within one year

411,933

411,933

Payable within two to five
years

480,589

892,522

0

0

892,522

1,304,455

Payable after five years

Operating lease payments recognised as an expense were €411,933 (2019: €411,933)
16.

Approval of Financial Statements

The Commission approved these financial statements on the 12th of May 2021.
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